
 

 
 

Scan the code above or visit www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings 
for a full copy of the agenda. 

 

 

 

 
Meeting PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Time/Day/Date 6.00 pm on Tuesday, 5 October 2021 
 
Location Council Chamber, Council Offices, Coalville 
 
Officer to contact Democratic Services (01530 454529) 
 
 
 

 
AGENDA 

Item  Pages 

 
1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 

2.  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 

 Under the Code of Conduct members are reminded that in declaring 
disclosable interests you should make clear the nature of that interest and 
whether it is pecuniary or non-pecuniary. 
 

 

3.  MINUTES  
 

 

 To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 2 September 2021. 
 

3 - 8 

4.  PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND OTHER MATTERS  
 

 

 Report of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure. 
 

9 - 12 

5. PROPOSED ALTERATIONS TO USE OF DELEGATED POWERS IN 
RESPECT OF RESERVED MATTERS APPLICATIONS AT SOUTH EAST 
COALVILLE  
 

 

 Report of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure. 
 

71 - 74 

 
 

http://www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings


Index of Applications to be Considered 
 

Item Application Number and Details  Recommendation Page 

 

 

A1  19/01961/FULM: Hybrid planning application for development of the 
site comprising: full application for the change of use of land for 
use as a caravan site as defined by S336 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act, together with associated works. Outline application 
for the erection of associated restaurant/bar/shop and office 
(access only) 
 
Land At Spring Lane Swannington Leicestershire LE67 8QR  
 

PERMIT subject 
to S106 
Agreement 
 

13 - 44 

A2  20/00362/FUL: Continued use of caravan site for a mixture of 
permanent residential accommodation and short term holiday 
accommodation 
 
Ashby Woulds Residential Park Spring Cottage Road Overseal Derby 
DE12 6ND  
 

PERMIT 
 

45 - 52 

A3  19/01255/FUL: Retention of seven outbuildings 
 
Ashby Woulds Residential Park Spring Cottage Road Overseal Derby 
DE12 6ND  
 

PERMIT 
 

53 - 60 

A4  21/00099/VCIM: Erection of leisure centre and associated 
development approved under planning permission ref. 
19/01343/FULM without complying with Conditions nos. 2, 3, 5, 6, 8, 
10, 12, 14, 18, 19, 21, 22, 25, 27 and 28 so as to allow for an 
amended site access, amended elevations, amended site layout, 
removal of additional woodland and amended opening hours 
 
Land Adjacent A511, Stephenson Way Coalville LE67 3GB  
 

PERMIT subject 
to S106 
Agreement 
 

61 - 70 

 



1 
 

Chairman’s initials 

MINUTES of a meeting of the PLANNING Committee held in the Council Chamber, Council 
Offices, Coalville on THURSDAY, 2 September 2021  
 
Present:  Councillor N Smith (Chairman) 
 
Councillors R Boam, D Bigby, A J Bridgen, S Gillard, J Hoult, J Legrys, K Merrie MBE and 
R L Morris  
 
In Attendance: Councillors R Johnson, R Canny, A C Saffell and C A Sewell  
 
Officers:  Mr C Elston, Mrs C Hammond, Ms S Booth, Ms S Grant, Mr J Knightley, Mr A Mellor, 
Mr I Nelson and Mr C Colvin 
 

20. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Apologies were received from Councillors D Everitt and M B Wyatt. 
 

21. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
In accordance with the Code of Conduct, Members declared the following interests: 

 
Councillor K Merrie declared a non-pecuniary in items A3, application number 
20/01436/REM and A4, application number 21/00857/VCIM, as the Leicestershire County 
Council division member for the application site.  

 
Councillor N Smith declared a non-pecuniary interest in item A2, application number 
21/01132/FUL, as the ward member. He stated that he would step down from the chair 
and leave the meeting for the consideration of the item. 
 
Members declared that they had been lobbied without influence in respect of the following 
applications but had come to the meeting with an open mind. 
 
Item A1, application number 19/01496/OUTM  

 
Councillors D Bigby, A Bridgen, J Legrys and K Merrie 
 
Item A3, application number 20/01436/REMM 
 
Councillor J Legrys 
 
Item A4, application number 21/00857/VCIM 
 
Councillor J Legrys 
 
 

22. MINUTES 
 
Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting held on 3 August 2021. 
 
It was moved by Councillor J Legrys, seconded by Councillor K Merrie and  
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 3 August 2021 be approved and signed by the  
 
 
 

3

Agenda Item 3.



2 
 

Chairman’s initials 

23. PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND OTHER MATTERS 
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure, as 
amended by the update sheet circulated at the meeting. 
 

24.  A1 
19/01496/OUTM: DEVELOPMENT OF UP TO 92,500 SQ M GIA OF STORAGE AND 
DISTRIBUTION UNITS (B8), INDUSTRIAL UNITS (B2) AND LIGHT INDUSTRIAL 
UNITS (B1C); SERVICE YARDS AND PARKING AREAS; NEW VEHICULAR 
ACCESSES OFF TRENT LANE / STATION ROAD AND RYECROFT ROAD WITH 
ASSOCIATED EARTHWORKS, DRAINAGE AND ATTENUATION FEATURES AND 
OTHER ASSOCIATED WORKS (OUTLINE, ALL MATTERS RESERVED EXCEPT FOR 
THE PRINCIPAL MEANS OF VEHICULAR ACCESS TO THE SITE). 
Land South Of Junction 1 Of The A50 Castle Donington Leicestershire DE72 2HN  
Officer’s Recommendation: Refuse 
 
The Principal Planning Officer presented the report to members. 
 
Parish Councillor E Nudd, on behalf of Lockington and Hemington Parish Council, 
addressed the committee highlighting that they supported the officer recommendation to 
refuse the application. He noted that the conservation areas were almost surrounded by 
warehouses and industrial units and, the application would be contrary to policies EC2.2 
and S3, which were there to protect residents from the harm of building in inappropriate 
locations. He urged the committee to reject the application. 
 
Parish Councillor M Rogers, on behalf of Castle Donington Parish Council, addressed the 
committee highlighting that the application fell outside policy, concerns that the site was in 
a flood plain and the proposed highway changes would cause serious traffic issues. It was 
noted that there was no employment need for the site in the area and that the B8 quota for 
the area had been met. He urged the committee to refuse the application. 
 
Mr S Haberfield, objector, addressed the committee highlighting that local residents had 
strong concerns over the amount of development in the area, along with the increase 
pollution that they bring. He noted that the data in relation to HGV movements was not an 
accurate reflection as it was taken during lockdown, when there was less traffic on the 
roads. He urged the committee to reject the application. 
 
Mr R Barnes, agent, addressed the committee highlighting that the applicant was 
committed to long term investment in the district and would ensure that the development 
was of the highest quality and environmental standards. He noted the public transport 
service standard that had been agreed with highways, the net zero carbon commitment of 
the applicant and the economic contribution to the local economy. He noted that the 
landscaping matter was the only issue outstanding and the applicant had addressed it 
within the application. 
 
Councillor R Canny, ward member, addressed the committee highlighting that the site fell 
outside the Limits to Development, had no end user and lay on a flood plain. It was noted 
that the area of separation between Castle Donington and Hemington would be 
undermined and, that local residents were concerned with the impact the increase in 
traffic would have on the already busy highway routes. Councillor Canny noted that the 
main reason for refusing the application was the severe visual impact the development 
would have on the area that was already overburdened with industrial and retail 
warehouses. She expressed concerns over the landscaping that was detailed in the report 
and urged the committee to refuse that application.   
 
In determining the application members expressed concerns that the site was outside the 
Limits to Development, that the landscaping mitigation, detailed in the report, would take 

4



3 
 

Chairman’s initials 

too long to have any impact on the area, the visual amenity would be severely impacted 
and that the site was a flood plain. Members also felt that there was no need or demand 
for any further employment development with in the area as many other units in the district 
remained unused. 
 
The recommendation to refuse the application in accordance with the officer’s 
recommendation was moved by Councillor J Legrys and seconded by Councillor J Hoult. 
 
The Chairman put the motion to the vote. A recorded vote being required, the voting was 
as detailed below. 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The application be refused in accordance with the recommendation of the Head of 
Planning and Infrastructure. 
 

Motion to refuse the application in accordance with the recommendation of the 
Head of Planning and Infrastrcuture (Motion) 

Councillor Nigel Smith For 

Councillor Russell Boam For 

Councillor Dave Bigby For 

Councillor Alexander Bridgen For 

Councillor Stuart Gillard For 

Councillor Jim Hoult For 

Councillor John Legrys For 

Councillor Keith Merrie MBE For 

Councillor Ray Morris For 

Carried 

 
Having declared a non-pecuniary interest in item A2, Councillor N Smith stepped down 
from the chair and left the meeting for the consideration and voting on that item. 
 
Councillor R Boam, as Deputy Chairman, took the chair. 
 

25.  A2 
21/01132/FUL: RETENTION OF AGRICULTURAL BUILDING, TRACK, 
HARDSTANDING AND EARTH BUNDS 
Land At Coleorton Lane Packington Leicestershire LE65 1WR  
Officer’s Recommendation: Permit 
 
The Senior Planning Officer presented the report to members. 
 
In determining the application, members were supportive of the officer recommendation, 
but some members expressed concern that the original planning application had been 
ignored, but were pleased that the applicant was agreeable to a landscaping condition 
being added. It was noted that a condition requiring monitoring of the landscape scheme 
could not be added but a note to applicant could be included instead. Members also 
requested that the Parish Council be asked to monitor the site and report any concerns. 
  
The recommendation to permit the application in accordance with the officer’s 
recommendation was moved by Councillor J Hoult and seconded by Councillor J Legrys. 
 
The Chairman put the motion to the vote. A recorded vote being required, the voting was 
as detailed below. 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 

5



4 
 

Chairman’s initials 

The application be permitted in accordance with the recommendation of the Head of 
Planning and Infrastructure 
 

Motion to permit the application in accordance with the recommendation of the 
Head of Planning and Infrastructure (Motion) 

Councillor Nigel Smith Conflict Of Interests 

Councillor Russell Boam For 

Councillor Dave Bigby For 

Councillor Alexander Bridgen For 

Councillor Stuart Gillard For 

Councillor Jim Hoult For 

Councillor John Legrys For 

Councillor Keith Merrie MBE For 

Councillor Ray Morris For 

Carried 

 
 
Councillor N Smith returned to the meeting and the chair. 
 

26.  A3 
20/01436/REMM: DEVELOPMENT OF 49 DWELLINGS WITH ON-SITE NATIONAL 
FOREST PLANTING, AREAS OF OPEN SPACES, AND ASSOCIATED HIGHWAYS 
AND DRAINAGE INFRASTRUCTURE (RESERVED MATTERS TO OUTLINE 
PLANNING PERMISSION REF 13/00956/OUTM) (AMENDED SCHEME) 
Land Off Grange Road Grange Road Hugglescote Leicestershire  
Officer’s Recommendation: Permit 
 
The Principal Planning Officer presented the report to members. 
 
In determining the application, members were supportive of the officer recommendation 
and noted that the application before them was not requesting a change to the number of 
bedrooms within the permitted dwellings but design detailing and alterations to the site 
layout. 
 
The recommendation to permit the application in accordance with the officer’s 
recommendation was moved by Councillor J Hoult and seconded by Councillor K Merrie. 
 
The Chairman put the motion to the vote. A recorded vote being required, the voting was 
as detailed below. 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The application be permitted in accordance with the recommendation of the Head of 
Planning and Infrastructure 

Motion to permit the application in accordance with the recommendation of the 
Head of Planning and Infrastructure (Motion) 

Councillor Nigel Smith For 

Councillor Russell Boam For 

Councillor Dave Bigby For 

Councillor Alexander Bridgen For 

Councillor Stuart Gillard For 

Councillor Jim Hoult For 

Councillor John Legrys For 

Councillor Keith Merrie MBE For 

Councillor Ray Morris For 

Carried 

6



5 
 

Chairman’s initials 

 

27.  A4 
21/00857/VCIM: ERECTION OF 360 DWELLINGS, ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE 
AND LANDSCAPING APPROVED UNDER RESERVED MATTERS APPROVAL REF. 
20/01184/VCIM (OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION REF. 13/00956/OUTM) WITHOUT 
COMPLYING WITH CONDITION NOS. 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 16, 19, 20, 21, 22, 
23, 24 AND 31 SO AS TO ALLOW FOR AMENDED HOUSE TYPES / POSITIONING, 
ROAD WIDTHS, STREET AND BOLLARD LIGHTING, RETAINING WALLS AND BIN 
STORES, AND REMOVAL OF GARAGES 
Land North Of Grange Road Hugglescote Coalville Leicestershire LE67 2BQ  
Officer’s Recommendation: Permit 
 
The Principal Planning Officer presented the report to members. 
 
Councillor R Johnson, ward member, addressed the committee highlighting that the 
changes to the increase in number of bedrooms in the dwellings listed did not comply with 
the emerging neighbourhood plan or the Local Plan. He also noted that the increase 
would make the homes less affordable to young residents who wanted to stay within the 
local area. 
 
In determining the application some members expressed concern over the application as 
the change to the housing mix made the dwellings less affordable, but the committee had 
regard to legal advice that housing mix was not a consideration in determining the 
application. 
 
The recommendation to permit the application in accordance with the officer’s 
recommendation was moved by Councillor A Bridgen and seconded by Councillor R 
Boam. 
 
The Chairman put the motion to the vote. A recorded vote being required, the voting was 
as detailed below. 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The application be permitted in accordance with the recommendation of the Head of 
Planning and Infrastructure 

Motion to permit the application in accordance with the recommendation of the 
Head of Planning and Infrastructure (Motion) 

Councillor Nigel Smith For 

Councillor Russell Boam For 

Councillor Dave Bigby Abstain 

Councillor Alexander Bridgen For 

Councillor Stuart Gillard For 

Councillor Jim Hoult For 

Councillor John Legrys Against 

Councillor Keith Merrie MBE For 

Councillor Ray Morris For 

Carried 

 
The meeting commenced at 6.00 pm 
 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 7.16 pm 
 

 

7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

APPENDIX B 
 
 

Report of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure 
to Planning Committee 

 

5 October 2021 
 
 
 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT REPORT 
 

 
 

9

Agenda Item 4.



 

PLANNING COMMITTEE FRONT SHEET 
 
 
1. Background Papers 
 
For the purposes of Section 100(d) of the Local Government (Access to information Act) 
1985 all consultation replies listed in this report along with the application documents and 
any accompanying letters or reports submitted by the applicant, constitute Background 
Papers which are available for inspection, unless such documents contain Exempt 
Information as defined in the act. 
 
2. Late Information: Updates 
 
Any information relevant to the determination of any application presented for determination 
in this Report, which is not available at the time of printing, will be reported in summarised 
form on the 'UPDATE SHEET' which will be distributed at the meeting.  Any documents 
distributed at the meeting will be made available for inspection.  Where there are any 
changes to draft conditions or a s106 TCPA 1990 obligation proposed in the update sheet 
these will be deemed to be incorporated in the proposed recommendation. 
 
3. Expiry of Representation Periods 
 
In cases where recommendations are headed "Subject to no contrary representations being 
received by ..... [date]" decision notices will not be issued where representations are 
received within the specified time period which, in the opinion of the Head of Planning and 
Infrastructure are material planning considerations and relate to matters not previously 
raised. 
 
4. Reasons for Grant  
 
Where the Head of Planning and Infrastructure report recommends a grant of planning 
permission and a resolution to grant permission is made, the summary grounds for approval 
and summary of policies and proposals in the development plan are approved as set out in 
the report.  Where the Planning Committee are of a different view they may resolve to add or 
amend the reasons or substitute their own reasons.  If such a resolution is made the Chair of 
the Planning Committee will invite the planning officer and legal advisor to advise on the 
amended proposals before the a resolution is finalised and voted on.  The reasons shall be 
minuted, and the wording of the reasons, any relevant summary policies and proposals, any 
amended or additional conditions and/or the wording of such conditions, and the decision 
notice, is delegated to the Head of Planning and Infrastructure. 
 
5. Granting permission contrary to Officer Recommendation  
 
Where the Head of Planning and Infrastructure report recommends refusal, and the Planning 
Committee are considering granting planning permission, the summary  reasons for granting 
planning permission, a summary of the relevant policies and proposals, and whether the 
permission should be subject to conditions and/or an obligation under S106 of the TCPA 
1990 must also be determined; Members will consider the recommended reasons for 
refusal, and then the summary reasons for granting the permission. The Chair will invite a 
Planning Officer to advise on the reasons and  the other matters.  An adjournment of the 
meeting may be necessary for the Planning Officer and legal Advisor to consider the advice 
required 
  

10



 

If The Planning Officer is unable to advise at Members at that meeting, he may recommend 
the item is deferred until further information or advice is available. This is likely if there are 
technical objections, eg. from the Highways Authority, Severn Trent, the Environment 
Agency, or other Statutory consultees.  
 
If the summary grounds for approval and the relevant policies and proposals are approved 
by resolution of Planning Committee, the wording of the decision notice, and conditions and 
the Heads of Terms of any S106 obligation, is delegated to the Head of Planning and 
Infrastructure. 
 
6 Refusal contrary to officer recommendation 
 
Where members are minded to decide to refuse an application contrary to the 
recommendation printed in the report, or to include additional reasons for refusal where the 
recommendation is to refuse, the Chair will invite the Planning Officer to advise on the 
proposed reasons and the prospects of successfully defending the decision on Appeal, 
including the possibility of an award of costs. This is in accordance with the Local Planning 
Code of Conduct.  The wording of the reasons or additional reasons for refusal, and the 
decision notice as the case is delegated to the Head of Planning and Infrastructure. 
 
7 Amendments to Motion 
 
An amendment must be relevant to the motion and may: 

1. Leave out words 
2. Leave out words and insert or add others 
3. Insert or add words 

as long as the effect is not to negate the motion 
 
If the amendment/s makes the planning permission incapable of implementation then the 
effect is to negate the motion. 
 
If the effect of any amendment is not immediately apparent the Chairman will take advice 
from the Legal Advisor and Head of Planning and Infrastructure/Planning and Development 
Team Manager present at the meeting. That advice may be sought during the course of the 
meeting or where the Officers require time to consult, the Chairman may adjourn the 
meeting for a short period. 
 
Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time. No further amendment 
may be moved until the amendment under discussion has been disposed of. The 
amendment must be put to the vote. 
 
If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion may be moved. 
 
If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the original motion. 
This becomes the substantive motion to which any further amendments are moved. 
 
After an amendment has been carried, the Chairman will read out the amended motion 
before accepting any further amendment, or if there are none, put it to the vote. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11



 

8 Delegation of wording of Conditions 
 

A list of the proposed planning conditions are included in the report. The final 
wording of the conditions, or any new or amended conditions, is delegated to the 
Head of Planning and Infrastructure. 
 
9. Decisions on Items of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure  
 
The Chairman will call each item in the report.  No vote will be taken at that stage unless a 
proposition is put to alter or amend the printed recommendation.  Where a proposition is put 
and a vote taken the item will be decided in accordance with that vote.  In the case of a tie 
where no casting vote is exercised the item will be regarded as undetermined. 
 

12



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

 

Hybrid planning application for development of the site 
comprising: full application for the change of use of land for 
use as a caravan site as defined by S336 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act, together with associated works. Outline 
application for the erection of associated restaurant/bar/shop 
and office (access only) 

 Report Item No  
A1  

 

Land At Spring Lane Swannington Leicestershire   LE67 8QR Application Reference  
19/01961/FULM  

 
Grid Reference (E) 441656 
Grid Reference (N) 315701 
 
Applicant: 
Finney's Park Homes 
 
Case Officer: 
Karina Duncan 
 
Recommendation: 
PERMIT subject to S106 Agreement 
 

Date Registered:  
14 January 2020 

Consultation Expiry: 
14 July 2021 

8 Week Date: 
14 April 2020 

Extension of Time: 
None Agreed 

 
Site Location - Plan for indicative purposes only   

 
     

Reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office 

©copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Licence LA 100019329) 

 
 

 

13

Agenda Item A1



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

 

Executive Summary of Proposals and Recommendation 
 
Call In 
The application is brought to the Planning Committee as the ward member, Councillor Boam, 
has requested it be called in on grounds of public concern. 
 
Proposal 
This is a "hybrid" application (i.e. part full and part outline), seeking planning permission for the 
development of Land at Spring Lane Swannington.  
Full planning permission is sought for the change of use of land for use as a caravan site as 
defined by S336 of the Town and Country Planning Act, together with associated works, and 
outline planning permission for the erection of ancillary restaurant/bar/shop and office buildings. 
The site is proposed to be used for tourism accommodation.  
 
In respect of those elements for which permission is sought in outline, the proposal includes 
details of access from Spring Lane with all internal access through the site being reserved. All 
other details relating to appearance, layout, scale and landscaping are reserved.  
 
Consultations 
Members will see from the main report below that 231 letters of objection have been received 
from third parties, in addition to objections from both Swannington and Whitwick Parish 
Councils.  
 
No objections on technical grounds have been raised by other statutory consultees. 
 
Planning Policy 
The application site lies outside Limits to Development as defined in the adopted North West 
Leicestershire Local Plan. The site is also located within the National Forest and two National 
Character Areas (NCAs). For clarity, the site is not located within an Area of Separation, nor is it 
located within a Green Wedge. The application has also been assessed against the relevant 
paragraphs within the NPPF, the adopted Local Plan and other relevant guidance. 
 
Conclusion 
The principle of the development is considered to be acceptable and accords with Local Plan 
Policies S3 and Ec13. The proposed scale, design and layout of the proposal, together with the 
visual impacts, would be acceptable subject to the imposition of planning conditions to secure 
full details of the proposed design and layout of the units and therefore the scheme also accords 
with Local Plan Policies D1 and En3. The tree and ecology impacts are considered to be 
acceptable subject to the imposition of planning conditions to secure full details in relation to 
layout, tree protection, a woodland management plan, lighting scheme and biodiversity 
enhancement details and as such the proposal is considered to accord with Local Plan Policy 
En1. Subject to the imposition of conditions, the proposal is not considered to result in any 
unacceptable highway safety, residential amenity, flooding, drainage, coal or archaeological 
impacts and on this basis the application also accords with Local Plan Policies IF4, D2, Cc2, 
En6 and He1.  
 
It is therefore concluded that the proposed development would comply with the provisions of the 
development plan as a whole, and the advice set out within the NPPF, subject to the imposition 
of conditions as recommended within the below report.  
 
The key planning issues arising from the application details are: 

14



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

 
- Principle of Development and Tourism Need 
- Landscape and Visual Impacts 
- Design and Layout  
- Biodiversity Net Gain  
- Impact upon Existing Trees and Loss of Woodland 
- Means of Access, Highway Safety and Impact upon Public Rights of Way 
- Drainage and Flood Risk 
- Impact upon Coalfield Development High Risk Area 
- Impact upon the Historic Environment and Archaeology  
- Impact upon Residential Amenity  
- Planning Obligations 
 
RECOMMENDATION: PERMIT, SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS AND THE SIGNING OF A 
SECTION 106 AGREEMENT FOR REPLACEMENT TREE PLANTING 
 
Members are advised that the above is a summary of the proposals and key issues 
contained in the main report below which provides full details of all consultation 
responses, planning policies, the Officer's assessment, and Members are advised that 
this summary should be read in conjunction with the detailed report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

MAIN REPORT 
 
 
Proposals and Background 
 
Planning permission is sought for the development of Land at Spring Lane Swannington 
comprising of a hybrid planning application for full planning permission for the change of use of 
land for use as a caravan site as defined by S336 of the Town and Country Planning Act, 
together with associated works, and outline planning permission for the erection of ancillary 
restaurant/bar/shop and office buildings. The existing site is used for forestry and the site also 
accommodates two bodies of water which have been used as fishing lakes. 
 
In respect of those elements for which permission is sought in outline, the proposal includes 
details of access, with all internal access through the site being reserved.  All other details 
relating to appearance, layout, scale and landscaping are reserved. Plans and elevations have 
been provided of the proposed shop/restaurant/bar and office which show that these buildings 
would be single storey in scale and constructed of timber cladding and slate tiles with glazing 
and oak detailing. Given that this element of the application is in outline form, these details have 
been treated as illustrative only. Indicative design details have also been submitted in respect to 
the proposed static units.  
 
The site comprises of a woodland, located to the south of Spring Lane and to the south east of 
the village of Swannington. Residential dwellings are located to the northern side of Spring 
Lane, with a cluster of dwellings also located to the north east of the site.  Access is proposed 
from Spring Lane via an existing junction. Two bodies of water to the north of the site have been 
used as fishing lakes and whilst these bodies of water are proposed to be retained, the existing 
use for fishing would cease.  
 
The site is located outside of the defined limits to development, as defined by Policy S2 of the 
Local Plan, therefore the proposal is located within the Countryside. The site is located within 
the National Forest and, for clarity, the site is not located within an Area of Separation.  
 
The submitted planning statement identifies that the applicant's vision is to 'generate more 
staying visitors in the National Forest by developing woodland holiday accommodation in a 
location that would allow cycle and pedestrian access to nearby settlements and the wider 
National Forest'. 
 
Following amendments to the application, the proposed development would occupy two main 
parcels of land, a northern and southern parcel, connected centrally by the proposed access 
road. The site boundary has been amended during the course of the application, resulting in a 
reduced red line boundary following the reduction in proposed units from the originally proposed 
208 to 52.  
 
The proposal has been amended during the course of the application to address concerns 
raised by consultees and other third-party representations relating to impact upon trees, 
ecology, design and layout, highway safety and flooding and drainage. The application 
proposes the erection of 20 larger units providing 2 double bedrooms, ensuite, bathroom, 
kitchen and dining and living area, together with decking and hot tubs, and 32 smaller static 
units providing 1 double and 1 single bedroom, bathroom, kitchen and living area, with decking. 
The originally proposed fishing lake proposed to the west of the site has also been removed 
from the proposal. 
 

16



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

The scheme also proposes the installation of a permeable gravel surface road, retention of the 
existing ponds on site, tree removal and replacement tree planting.  
 
The proposal has been assessed in respect of the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) 
Regulations 2011. Whilst the proposal is classed as development under paragraphs 12 (c) and 
12 (e) of Schedule 2 to the Regulations, it has been concluded that this proposal does not 
constitute EIA development under the 2011 Regulations. Whilst the proposal is listed within 
Schedule 2 and exceeds the relevant thresholds/criteria in Schedule 2, it is not located or partly 
located in a sensitive area, it does not exceed the selection criteria in Schedule 3 and it is not 
considered to result in any likely significant environmental effects. 
 
 
Relevant Planning History 
None available. 
 
 
2.  Publicity 
 
143 neighbours notified. 
Site Notice displayed 24 January 2020. 
Press Notice published Leicester Mercury 22 January 2020. 
 
 
3. Summary of Consultations and Representations Received 
 
The following summary of representations is provided.  
 
Objections received from:- 
 
Swannington Parish Council on the following summarised grounds: 
 
- The impact on the separation between Swannington and Coalville and the urbanising 

effect the proposal would have. 
- Concerns relating to the impact on loss of heritage and archaeological sites within the 

development. 
- Concerns relating to the impact upon the increase in population and the lack of 

amenities to serve the increase. 
- Concern that the proposed amenities within the site would not be accessible by the 

community and therefore would not be a benefit to the community. 
- Highway safety impacts as a result of an increase in traffic and when having regard to 

the characteristics and current speed limit of Spring Lane, visibility at the site access and 
the narrowness of the pavement. 

- Concerns relating to the number of amendments made to the application. 
- Concerns relating to the principle of a tourism development in this location and that the 

development would be in an unsustainable location. 
- Concerns relating to the accuracy of the benefits to the community and job creation. 
- Impacts in relation to light and noise pollution. 
- Impact upon the Coal mining risk area. 
- Concerns relating to foul and surface water drainage. 
- Impact upon ecology and trees. 
- Concerns relating to the potential for the site to be used in the future for alternative uses.  
- Concerns that a S106 has not been negotiated to secure commuted sums relating to 

17



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

traffic calming measures, playing fields and play equipment, education, The National 
Forest, and dog waste and litter bins. 

 
Whitwick Parish Council on the following summarised grounds: 
 
- Objects to the principle of a caravan site in this location and states that the scheme is 

disproportionate and excessive for the local community, unsustainable and 
inappropriate. 

- Concerns relating to the risk that the site could become a permanent residential site and 
how this would be controlled, further concerns raised relating to stay duration and 
licensing of the site. 

- The development would erode the area of separation between Coalville, Whitwick and 
Swannington and concerns relating to the impact upon the rural linear character of 
Swannington village. 

- The site is located outside of the Limits to Development. 
- Ecological impacts of the proposal. 
- The proposal would breach the requirements of the Natural Environment and Rural 

Communities Act 2006. 
- The impact upon the woodland as a result of tree felling and the precedent which this 

would set. 
- Mature trees on the site should be protected through the use of a Tree Preservation 

Order. 
- The applicant should be required to replant replacement trees or require a substantial 

commuted sum for tree planting in other areas. 
- Highway safety impacts to road users, pedestrians and cyclists, both within and outside 

of the site boundary. 
- The applicant should be required to fund an order to remove highway rights from the 

Byway open to all traffic, or significantly improve the access onto the highway from Clink 
Lane.  

- The applicant should take steps to prevent access from the byway onto the A511. 
- Concerns that the restaurant/bar/shop and office buildings are in outline form only. 
- Concerns relating to the proposed paintballing activity. 
- Concerns that the agent for the application has failed to respond to numerous parish 

invitations to attend parish council meetings to discuss the scheme. 
 
No objection, subject to conditions from:- 
LCC Lead Local Flood Authority 
LCC Ecology 
LCC Highway Authority 
LCC Archaeology 
Severn Trent Water 
The Coal Authority 
NWLDC Urban Designer 
NWLDC Tree Officer 
NWLDC Waste Services Team 
NWLDC Environmental Protection Team 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer 
 
No comments from:- 
Natural England 
 
 

18



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

 
 
Other Consultation Responses 
National Forest Company  
No objection, but raises concerns and provides advice relating to the proposed layout of units 
and parking, density and materials. The National Forest Company (NFC) has not requested a 
commuted sum for tree planting, but recommends conditions to secure a Woodland 
Management Plan.  
 
LCC Planning Obligations Officer  
No contributions requested given that the site is a leisure use and would not trigger any financial 
contributions under the LCC Planning Obligations Policy (2019). 
 
Third Party Letters of Representation 
A total of 231 third party letters of representation have been received objecting to the 
application.  
A summary of the reasons for objection is provided below: 
 
Principle of the Development and Tourism Need 
- The proposal does not accord with Local Plan Policy S3 due to its location outside of the 

defined limits to development, and the proposal does not accord with other Local Plan 
Policies.  

- Concerns relating to the viability of the proposed use. 
- Concerns in relation to the change of use to a commercial site and the removal of public 

space for the community. 
- Lack of need for tourism accommodation in this location and concerns that the 

application does not justify the need. 
- Concerns that the majority of tourists are day trippers, thus requiring no overnight 

accommodation.  
- Concerns relating to the lack of tourist attractions nearby. 
- Concerns that the development would be open all year round. 
- The development should be phased, to assess the viability. 
- Concerns relating to the restriction and enforcement of the proposed holiday duration.  
- Concerns that current tourism occupancy rates stand at 72%. 
- Concerns that the proposal is being used to circumvent the planning system. 
- Concerns that the application sets a precedent for major housing development within the 

locality. 
- Concerns relating to the lack of onsite facilities typically expected and associated with a 

holiday site. 
- Concerns relating to the fact that the site is advertised on the applicants' website as a 

residential site. 
 
Highway Safety 
- Concerns in relation to the increase in traffic, ability for the road network to 

accommodate increased traffic, construction vehicle weights and vehicle speeds, 
suitability of the existing lane, access and footpaths to accommodate the proposal.  

- Requests for increased speed restrictions, a roundabout and traffic lights. 
- Concerns relaying to the parking provision on site. 
- Requests that the road be resurfaced.  
- Inadequacy of the internal road width.  
- Concerns relating to the impact of road closures during the construction period and 

increased deliveries. 

19



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

- Lack of public transport nearby. 
- Concerns relating to the adequacy of the submitted Transport Impact Assessment, the 

survey times carried out within school holidays, concerns relating to the submitted 
TRICS data. 

- Concerns relating to pedestrian safety. 
- Concerns that the highway rights of the Byway should be extinguished at the applicants' 

expense to minimise danger caused by access and egress of vehicles onto the A511 
and at Clink Lane. 

 
Design, Landscape and Visual Impacts 
- Concerns relating to the merging of Swannington with Whitwick and Coalville and the 

scale of the proposal.  
- The negative impact upon Swannington as a village and its rural nature. 
- Concerns over potential future expansion of the development. 
- Visibility of the proposal through gaps in tree cover.  
- Concern relating to the proposed design of the holiday lodges and the density and layout 

of the site and the lack of National Forest inspired identity. 
- Impact on the landscape and visual amenity. 
- Impact upon the green wedge and green belt and the encroachment into the 

countryside.  
- Concerns that the shop and restaurant would not fit within the site.  
- Concerns relating to the lack of design information submitted relating to the appearance 

of the units. 
 
Ecology 
- Impact upon wildlife, habitats and protected species. 
- Environmental impact of the deforestation and ecological impact of the proposal. 
- Lack of compliance with legislation to include The Conservation of Habitats and Species 

Regulations 2017 and the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 
- Impact upon an existing stream. 
 
Impacts upon Trees and the Impact upon the Environment 
- The amount of tree felling and its impact upon carbon footprint and global warming.  
- Concerns that the tree felling has not been carried out in accordance with the applicants' 

felling license.  
- Impact upon the National Forest Tree Planting Scheme. 
- Increase in air pollution and the impacts upon health. 
- Loss of protected trees and the impact upon public amenity.  
- The potential for pollution from fuel or toxic spills. 
 
Residential Amenities and Community Impacts 
- Concerns in relation to the opening hours for the proposed restaurant and bar. 
- Increase in anti-social behaviour. 
- Impact upon light pollution. 
- Loss of community facility and the impact of the proposal on the community. 
- Impact upon residential amenity, odour, noise, comings and goings and overbearing and 

overlooking impacts. 
- Negative impact upon the nature and character of the village and lack of benefits to local 

residents. 
- Concerns relating to the lack of facilities within the development (play facilities etc). 
- Impact upon the health and wellbeing of residents within Swannington.  
- Impact upon residents as a result on dirt and debris during the construction period and 

20



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

other nuisance caused during the construction period. 
- Impacts of neighbours quiet enjoyment.  
 
 
Flooding and Drainage 
- Concerns relating to foul and surface water disposal/capacity. 
- Increased risk of flooding. 
- Impact of the proposed additional lake. 
 
Impact upon Public Rights of Way (PRoWs) 
- Concerns relating to the current condition of the footpaths.  
- Impact upon the rights of the byway and bridleway.  
- Impact upon safety of byway and PRoW users.  
- Impact on the tranquillity of the site. 
 
Historic Environment 
- Impact upon Archaeological areas of interest and the historic environment.  
 
Others 
- Increased pressure on services, infrastructure and facilities and the impact upon the 

increase in demand on existing residents of Swannington.  
- Concerns relating to a future change of use of land to residential or future housing 

development, or gypsy and traveller accommodation. 
- Provision for schooling. 
- Land ownership impacts. 
- Provision for waste collection. 
- Negative impact upon existing public houses within the village. 
- Security on site. 
- Improvements are required to the centre of Coalville before the application can be 

approved. 
- Concerns relating to the proximity of the site to the college. 
- The impact of the railway reopening on the proposed development. 
- Impact of the proposal on adjacent heritage sites in terms of visitor numbers.  
- Concerns that the area already has a large amount of static dwellings. 
- Concerns that touring caravans would also be allowed to use the site. 
- Concerns relating to the consultation process and the impact on this as a result of Covid-

19 and cancelled parish council meetings.   
- Concerns that Swannington village does not require additional development.  
- Concerns relating to the proposed paintballing activity set out within the originally 

submitted planning statement. 
- Concerns relating to the lack of compliance with Building Regulations. 
- Concerns that the site would not be restored to its current condition if the scheme was to 

fail. 
- Concerns that the site will not be monitored. 
- Concerns relating to rights of way of adjoining landowners and how these would be 

facilitated.  
- Lack of financial benefit to the area following a reduction in unit numbers. 
- Concerns that the site will be private and no members of the public will have access 

through the site. 
- Impact upon the Coalfield.  
 
The following non-material objections have also been raised which are not considered in the 

21



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

below report; 
- Actions of the landowner since purchasing the site. 
- Licencing for the proposed bar/café.  
- Impact on property value. 
- Loss of views. 
- Impact upon council tax. 
- Ownership of each caravan. 
- The applicants' lack of experience of running a holiday park. 
- Risk of damage to property boundaries.  
- Additional costs to taxpayer as a result of road damage. 
- The financial status of the applicant. 
- Actions of the applicant and the condition and appearance of the site (i.e. waste being 

stored on site and fires taking place on site). 
- Concerns relating to the lack of enforcement action taken towards tree felling and the 

use and activities taking place across the site.  
- Concerns relating to an RSPCA notice on the site relating to the welfare of ponies. 
- The cost and time associated with dealing with amendments to the planning application. 
- Issues relating to the way in which plans are viewed. 
- Concerns in relation to the ownership of the site access.  
- Concerns that the applicant will not follow any conditions attached to any planning 

consent.  
 
All responses from statutory consultees and third parties are available to view on the Council 
website. 
 
 
4. Relevant Planning Policy 
 
National Policies 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government's planning policies 
for England and how these are expected to be applied. 
 
Paragraphs 8 and 10 (Achieving sustainable development); 
Paragraphs 11 and 12 (Presumption in favour of sustainable development); 
Paragraph 34 (Development contributions); 
Paragraphs 38, 39, 40, 41, 42, 44 and 47 (Decision-making); 
Paragraphs 55, 56 and 57 (Planning conditions and obligations); 
Paragraphs 81, 83 and 84 (Building a strong, competitive economy); 
Paragraphs 92, 93 and 100 (Promoting healthy and safe communities); 
Paragraphs 105, 107, 108, 109, 110, 111, 112 and 113 (Promoting sustainable transport); 
Paragraphs 119, 120 and 124 (Making effective use of land); 
Paragraphs 126, 128, 130, 132 and 134 (Achieving well-designed places); 
Paragraphs 152, 154, 157, 159, 161, 162, 163, 164, 165, 167 and 169 (Meeting the challenge of 
climate change, flooding and coastal change); 
Paragraphs 174, 180, 183, 184, 185, 186 and 187 (Conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment); and 
Paragraphs 189, 194, 195, 197, 199, 201, 202, 203, 205, 206 and 207 (Conserving and 
enhancing the historic environment). 
 
Adopted North West Leicestershire Local Plan (2021) 
The North West Leicestershire Local Plan forms part of the development plan and the following 

22



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

policies of the Local Plan are relevant to the determination of the application: 
S2 - Settlement Hierarchy 
S3 - Countryside  
D1 - Design of new development  
D2 - Amenity  
Ec13 - Tourism development 
IF4 - Transport Infrastructure and new development  
IF7 - Parking provision and new development  
En1 - Nature Conservation  
En3 - The National Forest  
En6 - Land and Air Quality  
He1 - Conservation and enhancement of North West Leicestershire's historic environment 
Cc2 - Flood Risk  
Cc3 - Water - Sustainable Drainage Systems  
 
Other Policies and Guidance 
National Planning Practice Guidance. 
Leicestershire Highways Design Guide (Leicestershire County Council) 
Good Design for North West Leicestershire SPD - April 2017. 
Circular 06/05 (Biodiversity and Geological Conservation - Statutory Obligations and Their 
Impact Within The Planning System. 
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 
North West Leicestershire Economic Growth Plan 2019 - 2021. 
Tourism Strategy for Leicester and Leicestershire 2011-2016. 
Draft North West Leicestershire Tourism Strategy. 
National Forest Guide for Developers & Planners. 
The National Forest Tourism Growth Plan 2017-2027. 
LCC Planning Obligations Policy (2019). 
 
 
5. Assessment 
 
Principle of Development 
Letters of objection have been received from third parties and from Swannington and Whitwick 
Parish Councils relating to the principle of the proposed use in this location and the impact that 
the development would have upon the woodland and landscape as well as the sustainability 
impacts, viability of the proposal, lack of need for tourism accommodation of this scale, and the 
concern that the site, if approved, could change to a permanent residential site.  
 
The site is located outside of the limits to development, as defined by the adopted Local Plan. 
The site is therefore located within the Countryside and is subject to assessment under Local 
Plan Policy S3.  
 
Policy S3 sets out a range of uses (listed a-s) which will be supported subject to considerations 
set out within criteria i-vi of this same policy.  
 
The application proposes the erection of holiday accommodation, and therefore it is considered 
that the scheme would accord with criterion n of Policy S3. On this basis, the principle of tourism 
accommodation on this site is considered to be acceptable, subject to the scheme according 
with the below criteria.  
 
(i) the appearance and character of the landscape, including its historic character and 

23



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

features such as biodiversity, views, settlement pattern, rivers, watercourses, field patterns, 
industrial heritage and local distinctiveness is safeguarded and enhanced; and  
(ii) it does not undermine, either individually or cumulatively with existing or proposed 

development, the physical and perceived separation and open undeveloped character 
between nearby settlements either through contiguous extensions to existing 
settlements or through development on isolated sites on land divorced from settlement 
boundaries; and  

(iii) it does not create or exacerbate ribbon development; and  
(iv) built development is well integrated with existing development and existing buildings, 

including the re-use of existing buildings, where appropriate; and  
(v) the development will not seriously undermine the vitality and viability of existing town 

and local centres; and  
(vi) The proposed development is accessible, or will be made accessible, by a range of 

sustainable transport. 
 
The above criteria considered relevant to this application include, (i), (ii), (iv) and (vi) as the 
scheme is not considered to create or exacerbate ribbon development, nor is it considered to 
seriously undermine the vitality and viability of existing town and local centres.  
 
Criteria i and ii 
The above criteria state that developments will be supported where the appearance and 
character of the landscape, including its historic character and features such as biodiversity, 
views, settlement pattern, rivers, watercourses, field patterns, industrial heritage and local 
distinctiveness is safeguarded and enhanced and where developments do not undermine, either 
individually or cumulatively with existing or proposed development, the physical and perceived 
separation and open undeveloped character between nearby settlements either through 
contiguous extensions to existing settlements or through development on isolated sites on land 
divorced from settlement boundaries. 
 
The site is located within the National Forest and within two National Character Areas (NCAs). 
The north eastern part of the site (to the north east of the lakes) is within the Charnwood 
National Character Area, while the remainder of the site is within the Leicestershire and South 
Derbyshire Coalfield NCA. For clarity, the site is not located within an Area of Separation or 
within a Green Wedge or within the Green Belt. A number of public rights of way dissect the site 
and other surrounding land owned by the applicant. The rights of way include Bridleway N98 
which falls partly within land owned by the applicant and within the application site. The 
Bridleway cuts through the southern part of the site and connects to a Byway to the north which 
leads from the north west of the site from Clink Lane and cuts through the northern part of the 
application site and runs south east to link to Footpath N96 which leads to Stephenson Way. 
Much of this Byway is located within land owned by the applicant, with a small proportion 
located within the application site, to the west of the proposed access track connecting the 
northern and southern parcels of development. Footpath N96 is located outside of the 
application site, but is partly located within land owned by the applicant. Bridleway N40 is 
located to the west of the site, outside of the application site and does not sit within land owned 
by the applicant.  
 
The Local Planning Authority have commissioned a landscape consultant to assess the 
landscape impacts of the application. 
 
In terms of Policy S3 i, the Council's landscape consultant concluded that there would be some 
harm to the appearance and character of the local landscape, but that the level of landscape 
harm would be relatively low as a result of the limited visibility of the proposals. The site is well 

24



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

screened from the surrounding area, particularly in the summer, and there are no views from 
Spring Lane or Stephenson Way.  It has been identified that there would be a level of localised 
landscape and visual harm in terms of visibility from the rights of way through the site, which are 
considered to be relatively pleasant and rural, but from which there would be clear views of the 
caravans, especially in the winter (and especially considering the proposed tree removal 
alongside the public right of way (PRoWs) to the south of the larger lake). The general activity of 
the proposed site would also affect the present experience of walking along the routes.  As a 
result, amendments to the scheme were sought to relocate the units to the south of the large 
lake further away from the PRoWs, to reduce the unit numbers and to incorporate planting belts 
alongside the PRoWs. These amendments are considered to mitigate the adverse landscape 
and visual effects initially identified and it is therefore considered that subject to conditions 
securing a woodland management plan and planting belts, the amended application would 
mitigate the originally identified conflict with criterion (i) of Policy S3. 
 
In respect of Policy S3 ii, the development would sit squarely in the area of undeveloped land 
between Swannington and Coalville, but would not take up the whole of the gap, and significant 
areas of woodland would remain. The development would not be visible in views from either 
settlement, however, there would be an awareness of the presence of development within the 
gap for people passing along the PRoWs, and there would be an awareness of the gap having 
been eroded.  There would therefore be a reduction in the physical extent of the gap between 
the two settlements, and that reduction would be perceived by people passing along the rights 
of way past the site. The physical and perceived separation of the settlements would therefore 
be reduced, and the open undeveloped character of the land would also be affected. It is noted 
that the submitted Planning Supporting Statement which accompanies the application states at 
section 7.6 that: 'There will be an impact on the physical and perceived separation and open 
undeveloped character between nearby settlements'. 
 
Consideration has been given to the wording of this criterion set out within the policy and 
whether the proposal would undermine the physical and perceived separation and open 
undeveloped character between nearby settlements. Whilst it is noted that there would be an 
impact upon the physical and perceived separation and open undeveloped character between 
the settlements of Swannington and Coalville, given the level of amendments secured to reduce 
the scale of the scheme down to 52 units, as well as the level of planting secured to the site to 
the side of  PRoWs and in between the proposed units, it is not considered that the application 
would warrant a refusal of planning permission on the basis of its impact upon the physical and 
perceived separation and open undeveloped character between nearby settlements. On this 
basis, it is considered that the application would not conflict with the requirements of criterion ii 
of Policy S3.  
 
Criterion iv 
Criterion iv of Policy S3 requires built development to be well integrated with existing 
development and existing buildings, including the re-use of existing buildings, where 
appropriate. 
 
The scheme does not propose the re-use of existing buildings. The proposal would result in the 
erection of 52 twin and single static caravans, and the erection of two ancillary buildings. The 
main consideration in relation to this policy would be whether the scheme is well integrated with 
the existing woodland. Consideration has been given to the level of tree felling required to 
facilitate the proposed development. The Council's Tree Officer, whilst originally raising 
concerns relating to the level of tree felling required and the density of the proposed units, is 
satisfied that the amended layout would allow for appropriate landscape planting to the site and 
between each unit and retention of the most important trees on site. It should be noted that the 

25



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

submitted layout plan is indicative and detailed layout, landscape, tree removal and tree 
protection plans would all be required to be submitted as pre-commencement matters in 
accordance with paragraph: 003 Reference ID: 21a-003-20190723 of the Planning Practice 
Guidance. It is however noted that the Tree Officer considers it necessary to mitigate the net 
tree loss with additional tree planting elsewhere within the National Forest, or within other land 
owned by the applicant adjacent to the site as appropriate.  
 
The NFC have commented that the units should be separated from each other by retained trees 
and new woodland planting to reinforce the impression of being within a woodland, with hard 
surfacing kept to a minimum. Comments relating to the proposed materials for the units have 
also been received and the NFC have confirmed that the development within the site, to include 
units, communal buildings, signage and other infrastructure, should be constructed of natural 
timber (not composite materials). Whilst the NFC have expressed a preference for 'remote 
parking,' i.e. not on plot parking, this amendment has not been made to the proposed layout.  
 
The existing ponds on site would be retained with development proposed to be centred around 
these lakes to the north of the site. Amendments have been secured to introduce additional 
footpath links from the proposed development to the existing  PRoW network. Further 
amendments have also been secured to remove the originally proposed tarmac road running 
through the site which would be replaced with a permeable gravel surface, which is considered 
to be more appropriate in a woodland setting.  
 
The Council's Urban Designer has also commented on the scheme and has made comments in 
respect of the proposed layout; having considered that the originally proposed layout was 
regimented and cramped, the District Council's Urban Designer takes the view that the 
amended scheme results in greater separation between each unit, and would be a more 
appropriate layout which would allow for tree planting between units so as to reduce the 
urbanisation of the site. 
 
On this basis, subject to the imposition of conditions securing full details relating to the layout, 
materials, planting, tree removal and tree protection plans, woodland management and 
surfacing across the site, it is considered that the proposal would be well integrated with the 
existing woodland and would satisfy the requirements of criterion iv of Policy S3.   
 
Criterion vi 
Criterion vi requires proposed developments to be accessible, or be made accessible, by a 
range of sustainable transport. 
 
The site is located outside of the limits to development, with the nearest settlement of 
Swannington being categorised as a sustainable village benefitting from a limited range of 
services and facilities within Local Plan Policy S2. The nearest bus stop to the site is located on 
Main Street, Swannington, and is located approximately 360 metres from the site entrance 
which is considered to be within walking distance. A continuous pedestrian footpath is provided 
to the southern side of Spring Lane which provided access to the village of Swannington or to 
Thornborough Road.  
 
Consideration has been given to paragraph 105 of the NPPF which states that '…opportunities 
to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary between urban and rural areas, and this 
should be taken into account in both plan-making and decision-making. 
 
Arriva bus number 29 operates between Leicester and Swadlincote and provides a Monday - 
Sunday service, an hourly service is also provided on a Saturday and Sunday. The services 

26



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

provided between Monday and Friday vary depending on the time of day, but are generally 
between half-hourly (at peak periods) and hourly. It is considered that the nature of the 
development as a tourism site would mainly attract visitors to the site who would travel to the 
site via their own private transport. Naturally, this would lower the reliance on sustainable 
transport for visitors who wish to access the site. Consideration is also given to the fact that the 
nature of the proposed use will result in a reduced reliance for visitors to access day to day 
services and facilities as frequently or readily when compared with the requirements of 
permanent residential development. 
 
A network of public footpaths, public bridleways and byways are situated within and surrounding 
the site which provide access to the north west, south west, north east and south east to 
surrounding land, Swannington village and the north of Coalville. Whilst the town of Coalville 
provides a range of services and facilities, with some facilities (2 supermarkets, and 3 fast food 
takeaway establishments) located outside of the town and within close proximity to the end of 
the public byway, these facilities are located in excess of 1km of the site which is considered to 
be in excess of what could be classed as reasonable walking distance. It is noted that these 
footpaths are well used, however they would not provide the most attractive route for visitors to 
the site during winter months, poor weather or in the dark. However, future visitors to the site 
would not be wholly reliant on the public footpath network and instead could access the village 
on foot via Spring Lane which benefits from street lighting, although the facilities and services 
within Swannington itself would not provide future visitors with shops and other facilities 
required to accommodate for day-to-day needs, even those required whilst on holiday. 
 
The application includes the erection of a reception, office and shop, and it is considered that 
given the distance from the site to the nearest shops and the amount of vehicular trips 
associated with the proposed use, that the scheme would be acceptable subject to the provision 
of a shop being secured on site to provide visitors with the ability to purchase essential items. It 
is also considered necessary to tie the two proposed ancillary buildings to the proposed use.   
 
The location of the site would allow visitors to travel beyond the site to enjoy the wider 
countryside, The National Forest as well as surrounding towns and villages, whilst this may be 
by means of the private car, this would be little different to the travel patterns of those staying at 
a facility within a settlement, particularly when visiting attractions located elsewhere in the 
National Forest that are not accessible by public transport.  
 
When having regard to the footpaths available from the site and the ability for future visitors to 
access some facilities by foot or bicycle, as well as the provision of an on-site shop, together 
with the bus service which is located within walking distance from the site, and when considered 
the nature of the proposed use, it is considered that the application would not conflict with 
criterion vi. Subject to the imposition of a condition to secure the provision of an on-site shop, 
the application is considered to accord with criterion vi of Policy S3.  
 
Local Plan Policy Ec13 (Tourism Development) 
As the proposal is for the erection of holiday accommodation, Local Plan Policy Ec13 is also 
relevant to the determination of the application.  
 
Criterion d of Policy Ec13 states that the Council will maximise the potential of tourism in the 
district and increase tourist opportunities for visitors by supporting the development of 
attractions and accommodation that are well connected to other tourist destinations and 
amenities, particularly by public transport, walking and cycling. 
 
The policy further states that new tourist accommodation will be directed to the Limits to 

27



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

Development where it can make use of existing infrastructure. It is recognised however that 
there may be instances where an initiative requires a countryside location or setting or is directly 
related to a specific tourist destination. It further states that outside of the Limits to Development 
preference would be for tourism and tourism related development to re-use land and / or 
buildings. 
 
The Policy also sets out that tourism in rural areas, which benefits business, communities and 
visitors, and respects the character of the countryside, will be supported. Its scale should be 
appropriate to the local landscape and its surrounding environment and not adversely affect 
local transport infrastructure.  
 
The Policy goes on to state that when assessing new provision for rural tourism or the 
expansion of facilities, consideration will be given to whether needs can be met by existing 
facilities. 
 
The site is located within the National Forest, and the site provides access to a connection of 
public footpaths, byways and bridleways. Access from the site is provided to the Hough 
Windmill, the Urban Forest Park and Snibston Colliery Park and these sites can be accessed by 
walking and cycling. Impacts upon the character of the countryside and local landscape have 
been assessed and are considered to be acceptable, as identified within the report above, and 
the scheme is not considered to adversely affect local transport infrastructure, as expanded 
upon in more detail within the below report.  
 
It is considered that the proposal is directly related to a specific tourist destination, indeed the 
site is located within the National Forest itself. Whilst the scheme would not re-use land or 
buildings, Policy Ec13 does not state that permission should be refused for developments which 
are located on greenfield sites.  
 
It is noted that a large number of objections have been received raising concerns in relation to 
the viability of the proposal and whether a tourism site of this scale could be successful in this 
location. There are no Local Plan policies which require tourism developments to demonstrate 
that the site would be financially viable, however, in terms of whether the proposed tourism 
need can be met by existing facilities, consideration has been given to the Council's Tourism 
Strategy.  
 
The Council's Tourism Strategy for Leicester and Leicestershire (2011-2016) is now out of date, 
however it represents the most up to date strategy with the Council's latest strategy being in 
draft form and is to be presented to members later this year for adoption. It is also noted that the 
draft strategy states that a report should be commissioned to analyse the current supply across 
all accommodation sectors, map and forecast future demand growth and identify and provide an 
evidence base for what additional stock will be needed. On this basis, the data within the 2011-
2016 strategy has been used as a guide.  
 
The strategy states that 'occupancy levels suggest that there is enough capacity in the current 
supply. But to improve the earning potential of the county continued growth in accommodation 
provision is necessary.'  The strategy expands and states that 'future growth, however, needs to 
be focused on attracting established and high-profile brand names that will draw in new 
audiences and allow existing meeting and event venues to improve their performance through 
expanded accommodation. 
 
Conversely, the Council's draft tourism strategy states that the Council's priorities will focus on 
'working with partners to develop opportunities to grow the National Forest as a tourism 

28



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

destination.' Further, the NFC is currently looking at progressing a programme of action to 
accelerate and guide visitor accommodation development in The National Forest, however at 
the time of writing this report, up-to-date tourism accommodation and occupancy data is not 
available. The NFC have referred to their Tourism Growth Plan which is a 10-year strategic plan 
(covering 2017-2027).  
 
The plan sets out that a thriving tourism sector in the Forest needs to 'deliver more 
accommodation to allow The National Forest to grow overnight tourism, while recognising that 
day visitors remain an important core market.' It is therefore clear that the new tourism strategy 
will be focussed on expanding tourism opportunities within the National Forest and that the NFC 
have a strategic plan to grow overnight tourism, which is consistent with Local Plan Policy Ec13.   
 
The submitted Planning statement refers to the Council's Economic Growth Plan (2019-2021) 
which states that one of the Council's objectives is to 'support proposals for increased 
investment within the National Forest to develop the tourism offer and support the rural 
economy.' 
 
Overall, whilst the scheme is proposed outside limits, the application would not result in a 
significantly adverse impact upon the character of the countryside and the impacts upon the 
local landscape have been considered to be acceptable subject to conditions. The scale, 
following a reduction in unit numbers, is considered to be acceptable subject to conditions. 
Further, the scheme would not adversely affect local transport infrastructure and would be 
located within the National Forest where tourist destinations and amenities can be accessed by 
public transport, walking and cycling. The principle of overnight tourism accommodation is 
supported by Local Plan Policy Ec13 and is further supported by the Council's Tourism Strategy 
for Leicester and Leicestershire (2011-2016), the Council's draft tourism strategy, the NFC's 
Tourism Growth Plan (2-017-2027) and the Council's Economic Growth Plan (2019-2021). On 
this basis, it is not considered that the application would conflict with the requirements of Local 
Plan Policy Ec13.  
 
With regard to the comments received in relation to the potential future use of the site for 
residential purposes, such a change of use would require formal planning consent and in the 
event that a planning application of this nature was to be submitted, the Local Planning 
Authority would assess the merits of the application in line with the Local Plan and National 
Planning Policy at that time. 
 
With regard to the representations received in relation to occupancy, it should be noted that 
discussions have taken place with the agent for the application to ascertain whether the 
applicant would be agreeable to entering in to a S106 legal agreement to restrict the occupancy 
of the site to tourism only, however the agent has stated that the occupancy of the site should 
be controlled through the use of planning conditions which the Local Planning Authority would 
seek to impose. It should also be noted that imposing planning conditions to restrict occupancy 
is standard practice.  
 
On this basis, the principle of the application is considered to be acceptable subject to the 
imposition of planning conditions and subject to all other planning matters being adequately 
addressed. 
 
Design, Scale and Layout 
Letters of objection from Swannington and Whitwick Parish Councils and third-parties have 
been received relating to the design, density, scale and layout of the proposal.  
 

29



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

Local Plan Policy En3 states that within the National Forest new development should ensure 
that:  
(a) The siting and scale of the proposed development is appropriately related to its setting within 
the Forest; and  
(b) The proposed development respects and does not adversely affect the character and 
appearance of the National Forest or the wider countryside; and  
(c) The character of the National Forest is enhanced through incorporating a National Forest or 
locally inspired identity. 
 
Local Plan Policy D1 also states that new non-residential developments must positively address 
the Council's Place Making principles: 
a) A National Forest or locally inspired identity;  
b) Streets and Spaces shaped by buildings;  
c) A greener footprint;  
d) Vibrant and Mixed communities;  
e) Responsive to their context;  
f) Connected places;  
g) Easy to get around;  
h) Well designed and well managed public spaces;  
i) Architectural quality. 
 
The Council's Urban Designer and the NFC have been consulted on the proposal and 
comments have been received from both consultees who have concerns in relation to the 
amount of development proposed and it's lack of National Forest inspired identity. The NFC 
commented to state that the density of the scheme should be reduced to allow for more trees to 
be retained and for the units to be nestled within the woodland setting. 
  
Since the original consultation responses have been received, it is noted that the application 
has been amended significantly to reduce the amount of units proposed and remove the 
originally proposed fishing lake to the west of the site. Amendments to the layout have been 
made to result in greater separation distances between units, the siting of the units has also 
improved and is less regimented when compared to the original scheme which proposed a grid-
like layout. The originally proposed tarmac access track and parking spaces have also been 
removed from the scheme, replaced with a permeable surface which is considered to be more 
appropriate within the woodland setting. Amendments to the layout of the proposed amenity 
buildings surrounding the lakes have also been made, resulting in an improved relationship 
between the amenity buildings and these existing features. Pedestrian links have also been 
incorporated within the scheme to provide improved connectivity to the network of PRoWs on 
site.  
 
It is noted that the NFC have been working on a Tourism Accommodation Design Guide which 
has not yet been launched, however the NFC have advised that consideration should be given 
to the proposed parking layout, which should be centralised, as opposed to 'on-plot' to reduce 
the amount of hardstanding throughout the site and to reduce the vehicle traffic through the site 
adding to the wooden character. These comments have also been supported by the Council's 
Urban Designer, however this amendment has not been made to the proposed layout. Whilst 
the proposed parking provision could be improved, it is not considered that the proposed 
parking arrangement would constitute a reason to refuse the planning application.  
 
Comments have also been received in relation to the design of the amenity blocks to state that 
these should incorporate the visible use of timber, green roofs or walls and sustainable design 
features, to be a reflection of the character of the National Forest. It should however be noted 

30



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

that the amenity buildings are in outline form only, and conditions would be attached to secure 
full details in relation to their design.  
 
With regard to the units themselves, it is noted that the application seeks full planning 
permission for the change of use of land for use as a caravan site as defined by S336 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act. The proposed units fall within the definition of static caravans, 
as set out in the Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 (as amended), and each 
of them may measure up to 20 metres long, 6.8 metres wide and 3.05 metres high. The NFC 
advised that the units should be finished in natural timber and that the foundations for the 
proposed units should be secured to ensure that damage to tree roots is avoided and to 
minimise areas of concrete and hardstanding throughout the site. It is appropriate, despite the 
application being for a change of use of land, for the Local Planning Authority to exercise 
planning control in relation to the design and appearance of structures. Indicative details have 
been submitted by the agent during the course of the application to demonstrate that the 
structures, whilst considered to have the appearance of typical mobile homes in terms of their 
proposed form and features, could be finished in natural timber cladding which would be 
acceptable. Planning conditions can be imposed to secure full design details of the proposed 
units, their foundations and the materials.  
 
The NFC has stated that the scheme should also incorporate timber signage throughout the 
site, as well as cycle parking, both of which could be secured via condition.  
 
Overall, subject to the imposition of conditions to secure full details of the proposed units, 
surfacing, foundations, materials and site signage, the application is considered to be 
acceptable when having regard to Local Plan Policies D1 and En3.  
 
Residential Amenities 
Third party letters of objection have been received relating to the impact of the proposal on 
residential amenity, by way of noise, disturbance, additional comings and goings, light pollution 
and overbearing impacts.  
 
The closest neighbouring relationships between the units and existing residential dwellings 
would be 118 metres to dwellings located to the northern side of Spring Lane and 260 metres to 
existing dwellings to the north east of the site which are located to the southern side of Spring 
Lane. The proposed bar and restaurant building to the north of the site would be located 
approximately 130 metres to the closest neighbouring dwellings on Spring Lane.  
 
Whilst it is noted that the proposed development would result in additional amenity impacts over 
and above that of the existing use on site, given the separation distances from existing 
dwellings and the scale of the proposal, it is not considered that the scheme would result in any 
unacceptable noise, overbearing, overshadowing, overlooking or disturbance impacts to warrant 
a refusal of planning permission. It is considered that the opening hours of the bar and 
restaurant could be conditioned in the interests of residential amenity. 
 
The Council's Environmental Protection team have been consulted on the application and have 
raised no objection to the proposal subject to a condition securing an external lighting scheme 
to be agreed.  
 
Whilst concerns have been raised in relation to the amenity impacts during the course of the 
construction phase, this is considered to be an inevitable temporary manifestation of any 
development project, which is not the concern of the planning system unless there would be 
exceptional amenity harm. In this particular case it is considered reasonable to attach a 

31



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

planning condition to restrict construction hours on site. 
 
Overall, it is considered that, subject to the imposition of conditions, the application would 
accord with Local Plan Policy D2 and the advice contained within the NPPF.  
 
Highway Safety and Parking 
Letters of objection have been received to the application on the basis of highway safety, 
increase in vehicular movements, impact upon the highway network in terms of safety and 
congestion, parking, pedestrian safety, impacts during the construction phase, along with 
requests that speed restrictions, traffic calming and traffic lights be installed. Concerns have 
also been raised in relation to the adequacy of the internal road width, the adequacy of the 
Transport Impact Assessment and concerns that the highway rights of the Byway should be 
extinguished at the applicants' expense to minimise danger caused by access and egress of 
vehicles onto the A511 and at Clink Lane. 
 
Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or refused on 
highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 
 
The County Highway Authority (CHA) have been consulted on the application and have 
considered the details contained within the submitted Transport Assessment (TA).  
 
Highway Safety and Site Access 
Letters of objection have been received to the application on the basis of highway safety, 
increase in vehicular movements, impact upon the highway network in terms of safety and 
congestion, parking, pedestrian safety, impacts during the construction phase, along with 
requests that speed restrictions, traffic calming and traffic lights be installed. Concerns have 
also been raised in relation to the adequacy of the internal road width, the adequacy of the 
Transport Impact Assessment and concerns that the highway rights of the Byway should be 
extinguished at the applicants' expense to minimise danger caused by access and egress of 
vehicles onto the A511 and at Clink Lane. 
 
Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or refused on 
highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 
 
The County Highway Authority (CHA) have been consulted on the application and have 
considered the details contained within the submitted Transport Assessment (TA).  
 
Highway Safety and Site Access 
Spring Lane is a Classified C road subject to 30mph speed limit with dwellings on the northern 
side only in the vicinity of the proposed site access. In order to establish the 85th percentile 
speeds on Spring Lane, a speed survey was undertaken in November 2018, however, this 
survey did not include a location plan and as the surveys which were carried out included traffic 
counts, the subsequent surveys carried out in May 2019, which included school holiday periods, 
were initially rejected by the CHA. The applicant therefore commissioned a third survey in 
March 2020, which was terminated due to a burst water pipe which resulted in the closure of 
Spring Lane during the survey period. Subsequently, due to the Covid-19 pandemic, traffic 
conditions have not been representative of normal conditions, and therefore no further surveys 
were undertaken.  
 
The applicant has therefore submitted an assessment of all data obtained which demonstrates 

32



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

that the November 2018 survey is the most robust, and is therefore acceptable to the CHA. 
 
The survey identified speeds of 43.4 mph southbound, and 43.7 mph northbound, visibility 
splays of 2.4 metres x 120 metres should therefore be provided at the site access in accordance 
with the Leicestershire Highway Design Guide.   
 
The existing access is shared between the site and adjacent land. Consideration has been 
given to the access width of 5.5 metres and the 12.5 metre radii, as well as the interaction 
between the vehicles associated with the proposed use and those vehicles utilising the adjacent 
fields and paddocks. The revised TA states that the paddocks are visited less than once per 
year. Whilst the CHA acknowledge that the level of vehicular activity associated with the 
paddocks would not be limited to this, it is considered unlikely that vehicles accessing the 
paddocks, and vehicles accessing the site, would result in severe harm on the highway network, 
especially when having regard to the fact that the existing access arrangements serves the 
fishing lakes, and therefore the access has an extant permitted use. It has also been confirmed 
that no touring caravans would utilise the site.  
 
The CHA have reviewed Personal Injury Collision (PIC) Data within 500 metres of the site within 
the last 5 years at the site access and at the junctions of Main Street/Spring Lane/ Station Hill 
and Spring Lane/Thornborough Road, and have advised that no PICs have been recorded.  
 
Overall, the CHA are satisfied that the proposed access and visibility splays would not result in 
severe harm to the highway network, subject to the detailed design which would be secured and 
agreed as part of the S278 process.  
 
Trip Generation 
The TRICS database contains no survey data relating to Saturday trip rates and therefore it was 
requested that the applicant undertook a survey at a comparable site in order to ensure that an 
adequate assessment of traffic impact was undertaken. Subsequently, the CHA agreed with the 
applicant that Mowbreck Caravan Park, Lancashire, was an acceptable site to survey. The TA 
therefore outlines that a TRICS compliant survey was undertaken between 4pm - 7pm on a 
Friday and 7am - 7pm on a Saturday. The surveys were carried out in February 2020, prior to 
any Covid-19 related impact on traffic counts. 
 
Using the information submitted, the CHA have calculated the trip generation which confirmed 
that the worst case scenario to be 37 two-way movements per hour. This would be on 
Saturdays between 12pm - 1pm and 1pm - 2pm, which would not coincide with the network 
peak. The CHA have also noted that this assessment is on the basis that the proposed 
associated restaurant/bar/shop and office, for which outline (with access) approval is sought, is 
ancillary to the proposed caravan site. The CHA therefore recommends that a condition be 
imposed to ensure that this element of the proposal shall remain ancillary to ensure that it is not 
occupied or operated separately from the remainder of the site. 
 
Public Rights of Way 
Public Footpath N95, Public Bridleway N98 and Public Byway N39 are affected by the proposed 
development, therefore the CHA have advised planning conditions to be attached to secure 
details in relation to the treatment of these PRoWs to ensure that they remain open and 
enjoyable for public use.  
 
Conditions 
The CHA have advised that conditions be attached to secure the proposed access width, 
gradient, surfacing, kerbed radii, 120 metre visibility splays, pedestrian visibility splays, on-site 

33



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

parking, a construction method statement, details in relation to the treatments of the PRoWs 
and a signage scheme in respect of the PRoWs. 
 
Representations 
With regard to the representations received, the CHA have not requested conditions to secure 
traffic calming measures, the installation of any speed measurement equipment, or any other 
highway infrastructure to be secured. No concerns are raised in relation to the internal road 
layout width, the highway rights of the Byway, or dangers to pedestrians and PRoW users.  
 
Highway Safety Summary 
The County Highway Authority are satisfied that the impacts of the development on highway 
safety would not be unacceptable, and when considered cumulatively with other developments, 
the impacts on the road network would not be severe. Overall, subject to the imposition of 
planning conditions, the application is considered to be in accordance with the guidance set out 
within the Leicestershire Highway Design Guide and the application is considered to be 
acceptable when having regard to Local Plan Policies IF4 and IF7 as well as the guidance set 
out within the NPPF. 
  
Ecology 
Paragraph 174 of the NPPF states, amongst other things, that planning decisions should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts on and 
providing net gains for biodiversity.  
 
Paragraph 180 of the NPPF states that if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a 
development cannot be avoided (through locating on an alternative site with less harmful 
impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then planning permission 
should be refused. 
 
Objections have been received in relation to the impacts of the proposal upon wildlife, habitats 
and protected species. The County Ecologist has been consulted on the application and has 
visited the application site. Throughout the course of the application, the County Ecologist has 
requested additional information to be submitted to include a badger survey and an extended 
Phase 1 habitat survey. Amendments to the Great Crested Newt survey was also requested. An 
amended herptile report and an amended mammal report was submitted, together with a 
Preliminary Ecological Assessment (PEA). An Enhancement Calculation spreadsheet has also 
been submitted to demonstrate the biodiversity net gain on site. The ecological impacts of the 
proposal are address in turn below.  
 
The two private fishing lakes on site, due to a large toad population, are designated as a Wildlife 
Site (Number 90928). A GCN translocation pond located to the east of the site at Stephenson 
College is designated as a Local Wildlife Site (LWS) (number 61699). 
 
The trackways with hedges and trees have been designated as a candidate LWS (92008); a 
further mature ash towards the eastern end is also designated (LWS number 92002). Three Ash 
trees, located outside of the application site, along a boundary of a paddock to the rear of 
houses off Spring Lane are also designated as a LWS (number 58193).  
 
Badger and Mammals 
With regard to badgers, the ecologist has visited the site and has confirmed that the reported 
badger setts were no longer in regular use by badgers. The County Ecologist has confirmed that 
the presence of badgers would need to be kept under review and therefore a planning condition 
is advised to be attached requiring an updated survey prior to (within 3 months of) 

34



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

commencement and a precautionary working method statement to be submitted.  
 
Great Crested Newts (GCNs) 
With regard to GCNs, the Ecologist requested that the Stephenson College ponds be surveyed 
by the applicants' ecologists, to establish whether the confirmed GCNs are breeding within this 
pond. The Stephenson College site had two great crested newt compensation ponds created 
when the college was built 15-20 years ago, to translocate great crested newts trapped from the 
college site. This survey was not carried out by the applicants' Ecologist, however the County 
Ecologist visited the Stephenson College ponds and the reported GCNs were present within a 
pond on site, and a colony of great crested newts was present in the area and GCNs are also 
present within the ditch by the college. On this basis the County Ecologist considers it likely that 
GCNs are present within the application site.  
 
In the absence of evidence to the contrary, the County Ecologist has assumed that the GCN 
population is medium. Therefore, a method statement is advised to be secured by planning 
condition to ensure that precautionary working is secured when clearing land and carrying out 
any earthworks, constructions, creation of hardstanding, trackways etc. 
 
Under Regulation 55 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, activities 
which would otherwise contravene the strict protection regime offered to European protected 
species under Regulation 43 can only be permitted where it has been shown that the following 
three tests have been met: 
 
- the activity would be for imperative reasons of overriding public interest or for public 

health and safety; 
-  there would be no satisfactory alternative; and 
-  the favourable conservation status of the species in question would be maintained.  
 
Case law sets out that Local Planning Authorities must engage with these three tests at the 
planning application stage and demonstrate that they are satisfied that the three tests have 
been met prior to granting planning permission. In this case, it is considered that the tests would 
be met as (i) for the reasons set out under the Principle of Development section above, it is 
considered that (subject to being acceptable in planning terms) the site needs to be released for 
the proper operation of the planning system in the public interest; (ii) the works affecting the 
protected species would be necessary to enable the development to proceed in a logical / 
efficient manner; and (iii) the proposed mitigation measures would satisfactorily maintain the 
relevant species' status. It is therefore considered that the proposal would meet the 
requirements of the Habitats Regulations in respect of protected species, and would also 
comply with this element of Local Plan Policy En1. 
 
Invertebrates - grassland and deadwood habitats 
The County Ecologist confirms that the submitted invertebrate report is comprehensive and 
highlights the presence of several species of national significance associated with flower-rich 
rides and grasslands and dead wood habitats. The submitted PEA noted the presence of two 
LWS indicator species (Rumex acetosa and Ranunculus acris). The County Ecologist requested 
further clarification on the main dead wood and flower-rich habitat of value to invertebrates, as 
some of the rides and grasslands would be lost to the development, and because of the 
presence of notable invertebrate species.  
 
Following a site visit, the County Ecologist has confirmed that the grasslands within the 
application site are of value, but do not meet Local Wildlife Site (LWS) criteria. Further, the 
County Ecologist has confirmed that the standing dead wood habitats along the central 

35



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

trackways meet LWS criteria. 
 
Birds, Barn Owl and Woodland loss 
The County Ecologist notes that there is a good assemblage of woodland, scrub and woodland 
edge species breeding or present on the site, and a high number of territories. The County 
Ecologist states that this will be indirectly adversely affected by the development, through 
disturbance such as vehicle traffic, people and dogs/cats, and lighting, as well as directly 
through habitat loss.  
 
Following amendments to the scheme which has removed the block of units closest to the site 
where Barn Owl was recorded, the County Ecologist is satisfied that significant impacts on this 
protected species is less likely.  
 
The County Ecologist confirms that the woodland is a young plantation, and its value is mainly 
because of its large size. It is however noted that there would be a significant loss of habitat for 
birds, mammals and invertebrates. Nonetheless, the trees are a replaceable habitat, being of 
recent planting, and part is low value dense coniferous plantation. The County Ecologist has 
confirmed that whilst an objection relating to the loss of woodland on ecology grounds cannot be 
sustained, the losses must be compensated for. The County Ecologist has noted that this offers 
an opportunity to plant with something better for wildlife and amenity than that of the poor 
coniferous plantation.  
 
Mature trees and hedgerows 
The County Ecologist notes that whilst most of the trees on the site are young, there are some 
significant Ash, some of which meet Local Wildlife Site criteria, and some good oaks, mostly 
along the central trackway. The County Ecologist has confirmed that T80, T81 and T82 
identified on the submitted tree survey are already designated as LWS 58193. The County 
Ecologist has advised that the retention of the mature trees should form a planning condition.  
 
The County Ecologist has further stated that the public bridleway through the site is of value 
including the presence of old trees and species-rich hedges. The hedges and many of the trees 
met the County's Local Wildlife Site criteria, and therefore a condition is advised to be attached 
to secure the retention of this candidate LWS.  
 
Biodiversity net-gain, enhancement strategy and management plan 
The development is required to demonstrate measurable biodiversity net-gain. The County 
Ecologist has confirmed that there is potential within the site to secure biodiversity net gain 
through the management of retained woodland, enhancement of grasslands and deadwood 
habitats, creation of wetlands and off-site woodland planting in compensation.  
 
Throughout the course of the application, the County Ecologist has advised that the existing 
baseline habitats and habitats to be lost, retained or enhanced, needed to be agreed and 
measured, and that a strategy for achieving net-gain should be secured.  
 
In response to the County Ecologists' advice, a Biodiversity Impact Assessment calculation and 
Enhancement Strategy calculation have been submitted. Upon reviewing the enhancement and 
creation proposals, the County Ecologist requested that the applicants' Ecologist revisit the 
submitted metric following concerns in relation to the way in which it had been completed. 
 
Following amendments to the Enhancement Calculation spreadsheet, the County Ecologist has 
confirmed that the proposal now shows a net gain, due to enhancement of 10.24ha of 
deciduous and 4.9ha of coniferous woodland adjacent to the application site.  

36



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

 
The Enhancement Calculation document has been amended to include figures for habitat loss, 
creation and enhancement taken from the metric, which the County Ecologist considers to be 
acceptable. There is reference to pond creation within the submitted information and the maps 
in Appendix D of the report shows the location of the two new ponds, the scrub, the wildflower 
grassland, the rain garden and the grassland buffer strips, as set out in the metric, however 
these are not shown on the Amended Illustrative Site Layout Plan and conflict slightly with the 
proposed planting arrangements and therefore full details of these elements of the biodiversity 
enhancement would be secured via condition, to ensure that the proposal secures the net-gain 
and the appropriate planting and screening across the site. 
 
The County Ecologist has confirmed that there are some inconsistencies between the tabular 
management plan and the submitted metric. Whilst a tabular management plan has been 
submitted, which includes details of hedgerow and woodland management, the woodland 
management proposed is purely for creation of glades and rides and excludes the management 
to the woodland structure. The tabular management plan excludes works to the woodland 
outside the glades and rides which would result in a metric loss, and not a gain. The County 
Ecologist has however confirmed that it is appropriate to secure a detailed management plan 
via condition and following consultation with the NFC, the County Ecologist is satisfied that this 
should be a pre-commencement condition.  
 
With regard to the wetland creation and woodland planting, the County Ecologist has advised 
that some of the proposed woodland and wetland species are not appropriate for a variety of 
reasons to include the provision of non-native species, low wildlife value, or their affliction with 
disease.  
 
In conclusion, the metric is now acceptable and shows net-gain; the gains are dependent on 
woodland enhancement which would be secured via condition.  
 
Lighting 
The County Ecologist states that the lighting strategy provided would be likely to adversely 
affect the retained woodland and other habitat if light spill of more than 1 lux impinges on the 
habitats. On this basis, a planning condition is advised to be attached to secure full details of the 
proposed on-site lighting.  
 
Ecology Summary 
Overall, following significant amendments to the scheme and amendments to the Biodiversity 
net gain data, the County Ecologist is satisfied that the proposal would achieve an overall 
biodiversity net-gain and no objection is raised to the application, subject to the imposition of 
planning conditions to secure a woodland management, a biodiversity management plan and 
landscape plan.  
 
Impact upon the National Forest, existing tree cover and woodland loss 
The site is located within an existing woodland and the application has been supported by a 
submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment and a Tree Protection Plan. Initial concerns were 
raised by the Council's Tree Officer that development of the originally proposed scale would be 
incompatible with the site's woodland environment. Further concerns were raised in relation to 
the impact upon new woodland edges which are likely to be unstable and susceptible to 
windthrow which would result in trees being uprooted by wind, resulting in further losses and 
increased site exposure. Based on the tree officers' original calculations, the original proposal 
for the erection of 208 units would have resulted in an approximate woodland loss of at least 
63%, plus the loss arising from the creation of the originally proposed fishing lake.  

37



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

 
Comments have been received in relation to the Forestry Commission felling licence and 
concerns have been raised that felling on site has not been carried out in accordance with this 
licence. Whilst compliance with the terms of the licence is a matter to be addressed by the 
Forestry Commission, the terms of the licence have been reviewed by the Local Planning 
Authority following correspondence with the agent. The licence is for the felling of 30% of the 
canopy across the whole woodland to allow for thinning and the management of the woodland, 
and does not allow clear felling in one location. On this basis, the felling licence has not been 
considered as a fall-back position for the level of felling proposed under this application, as the 
thinning is a required part of the management of the woodland and is not comparable to clear 
felling targeted to certain parcels of the site.  
 
Original consultation comments received by the Council's Tree Officer confirmed that 
compartment W2, which consists mainly of European larch, is of limited quality and susceptible 
to disease. The tree officer therefore advised that clear felling of this area in the north section of 
the site near the existing fishing lake, could provide opportunities for low key installation of pods 
or chalets. It was further advised that there was further scope for construction in the clearings 
and around existing individual trees in the south-east sector of the site (W8/ T42-T79) and also 
in the south-west sector in the open space near W9 - W11, in order to avoid tree loss. Concerns 
were also raised by the Tree Officer that the development would not be screened from view 
when viewed from the PRoWs. 
 
The Tree Officer has sought greater clarity in relation to confirm the Tree Root Protection Areas 
(RPAs) of the trees, so as to ascertain the number of feasible units which could be installed on 
site. During the course of the application, a particular area of concern for the tree officer has 
been a group of Poplars on site. Concerns have been raised by the Tree Officer in relation to 
unit positions, which whilst may equate to the BS5837:2012 recommended RPAs, would be too 
close to the Poplars for them to be compatible or sustainable.  
 
The Tree Officer has further stated that development should consider the species, condition, 
future growth, work space outside the RPA, tree risk assessment and actual root spread. Any 
root severance would result in extensive and unacceptable sucker growth. 
 
Following amendments to the scheme which results in a greater separation distance between 
the proposed units and retained trees, the Tree Officer has no objection to the proposal and has 
advised that the indicative layout, providing that a suitable Tree Protection Plan is secured, 
would ensure that the poplar trees would have the ability to integrate. The Tree Officer does 
however state that the suckers from their root systems and the previously felled poplars will be 
an ongoing problem which the applicant will have to manage.  
 
The application does not seek a specific number of units in the description of development, 
although the specific number would be constrained as a consequence of a detailed layout plan 
which would be secured through the use of a planning condition. Throughout the course of the 
application, the agent has suggested that the specific number, position, orientation and layout of 
units, including landscaping, and subject to Arboricultural constraints, could be a matter to be 
resolved through planning conditions. To ensure that the development is well integrated, all 
service corridors would need to be pre-planned and areas of no-dig construction identified, both 
of which would be secured through the use of planning conditions. 
 
Off-setting tree loss 
The amended scheme now results in the loss of approximately 1.35 ha of woodland which the 
Tree Officer has estimated to require approximately 3375 replacement trees. The Tree Officer 

38



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

has identified that the areas of loss mainly affect the lower quality tree stock.  
 
The Tree Officer has stated that the loss should be off-set by new planting elsewhere in the 
National Forest. It should be noted that a calculation in relation to the net tree loss cannot be 
carried out until detailed proposed layout and landscaping plans have been submitted, which 
would show the precise proposed planting and precise positioning of units in relation to tree 
roots, consideration would also be given to the foundation design of each unit. It may be 
possible to secure this planting on land owned by the applicant, adjacent to the application site. 
In the event that this is not possible the Local Planning Authority would look to secure 
commuted sums for replacement tree planting. Whilst there is no adopted / standardised 
formula for such replacement planting, it is considered that it would be appropriate to use the 
standard contribution calculation used by The National Forest Company which is applied to 
developments where National Forest planting is required; this figure stands at £35,000 per 
hectare, which in this case would equate to approximately £47,250.  
 
Should the applicant wish to provide off-site planting within land already owned to the south of 
Spring Lane, then an appropriately worded Grampian condition could be used to secure this. 
Alternatively, if off-site planting is more appropriate elsewhere within the National Forest on land 
falling outside of the applicants' ownership, or if the applicant wishes to utilise a combination of 
the two, then the Local Planning Authority would look to secure commuted sums for this planting 
which would be secured through a S106 legal agreement (and in accordance with advice from 
the Council's legal team on the most appropriate mechanism to secure this planting).  
 
Discussions have taken place with the agent for the application to establish how the applicant 
intends to address the required tree planting. The agent has advised that the applicant intends 
to explore the possibility of tree planting taking place on land owned by the applicant to the 
south of Spring Lane. However, a net loss calculation would need to be secured, together with 
information to show that the full loss could be accommodated on the applicants land, in order for 
a Grampian condition to be imposed by the Local Planning Authority. In the event that this 
information is not submitted to demonstrate that the full net loss could be carried out on land 
owned by the applicant, a S106 legal agreement would be secured, in accordance with advice 
from the Council's legal team.  
 
National Forest Planting 
Local Plan Policy En3 states that new developments within the National Forest will contribute 
towards the creation of the forest by including provision of tree planting and other landscape 
areas within them and /or elsewhere within the National Forest in accordance with National 
Forest Planting Guidelines. 
 
It is noted that the scheme would fall within the 'all development' development type within the 
National Forest Planting Guideline document, however the site area also falls below 10ha in 
size, and as the proposal is also not for residential or employment development, the scheme is 
not required to provide additional National Forest Planting over and above any required 
replacement planting.  
 
Protected Trees 
Concerns have been raised during the consultation period that the proposal would result in the 
felling of three protected Ash trees along a boundary of a paddock to the rear of houses south of 
Spring Lane. These trees fall outside of the application site and it is not proposed that these 
trees be felled.  
 
Upon submitting the application, there were no protected trees within the site, however during 

39



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

the course of the application a provisional Tree Preservation Order (TPO number T495) has 
been made in respect of the group of 33 Poplar trees which are located within the southern part 
of the site. The Tree Officer does not consider there to be a benefit in making a TPO in respect 
of the other forested areas, stating that the applicant would need to manage these other areas 
in accordance with Forestry Commission felling licence requirements.  
 
Summary 
Overall, it is considered that subject to securing replacement tree planting either on land owned 
by the applicant to the south of Spring Lane, or elsewhere within the National Forest, that the 
felling proposed would be acceptable. The Tree Officer has also confirmed that compatibility 
issues between each unit and retained trees could be addressed by securing a detailed layout 
plan showing each unit proposed and their relationship with RPAs. A Woodland Management 
Plan and a Tree Protection Plan would also be secured via condition.  
 
Impact upon Heritage and Archaeology 
Objections have been received during the course of the application raising concerns that the 
proposal would result in unacceptable impacts upon the historic environment.  
 
The County Archaeologist has been consulted on the application and a review of the 
Leicestershire and Rutland Historic Environment Record (HER) indicated that the site lies in an 
area of archaeological interest, including the discovery of prehistoric, Roman and Saxon finds 
from a number of locations within the site and from its immediate surrounding area. On this 
basis it was considered that the archaeological potential of the site would be high.  
 
A desk-based assessment has been submitted and whilst the County Archaeologist is largely 
satisfied with report's conclusions, the Archaeologist does not agree with the assessed 'low' 
potential for archaeological remains to exist within the application area. Despite this, when 
taking into account the site conditions (previous works, tree and scrub growth, etc.) and the 
potential subsidence the site has experienced, the County Archaeologist considers that the 
archaeological interest of the application area can best be addressed by conditions secured 
upon a determined application.  
  
On that basis, conditions are advised to be attached to secure a two-stage programme of 
archaeological mitigation, comprising an initial exploratory phase (geophysical survey, test 
pitting) followed, if shown necessary, by a final phase of targeted investigation and recording to 
address the impact of the development upon any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) in 
a manner proportionate to their importance. 
 
With regard to the impact upon listed buildings, Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that, in considering whether to grant planning 
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, special regard should 
be had to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting. The closest listed building to 
the site is located approximately 400 metres to the north of the application site, with no 
intervisibility between the two sites. It is therefore not considered that the scheme would result 
in any harm to the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses. 
 
It is therefore considered that subject to the imposition of planning conditions, that the 
application would accord with Local Plan Policy He1 and the advice set out within section 16 of 
the NPPF. 
 
 

40



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

Flood Risk and Drainage 
Third party letters of objection have been received during the course of the application relating 
to flooding, surface water drainage and foul waste provision. 
 
The site lies within Flood Zone 1 and is therefore in an area at the lowest risk of fluvial flooding. 
Small pockets of the site are affected by a low, medium and high risk of surface water flooding, 
as defined by the Environment Agency's Surface Water Flood Maps.  
 
Section 11 of the submitted application form does not address how foul waste would be 
disposed of and it does not specify whether the application proposes to connect to the existing 
drainage system. The application also does not specify how surface water would be disposed 
of.  
 
Further information has been provided during the course of the application to confirm that the 
site would discharge surface water to a nearby watercourse at a rate not exceeding the existing 
greenfield run off rate, The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) are satisfied that the proposal 
would be acceptable, subject to the imposition of conditions to secure a surface water drainage 
strategy, a strategy for the management of surface water during construction, and a scheme for 
the long-term maintenance of the surface water drainage system. Severn Trent Water have also 
requested that a condition be attached relating to the disposal of surface water.  
 
In terms of foul waste disposal, Severn Trent Water have been consulted on the application and 
have advised for a condition to be attached to secure a scheme for the disposal of foul sewage 
to be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Representations 
It is noted that an objection has been received in relation to the impact upon the existing 
watercourse on site, however the LLFA have raised no objection to the application and no 
concerns have been raised in relation to the impact upon this existing watercourse. 
 
Overall, subject to the imposition of planning conditions, the application is not considered to 
result in drainage or flooding issues. The application is therefore considered to be compliant 
with Policies Cc2 and Cc3 of the adopted Local Plan and Paragraph 163 of the NPPF. 
 
Coal Mining Risk 
Parish Council and third-party letters of objection have been received during the course of the 
application relating to the impact upon the Coalfield. 
 
Part of the application site lies within the defined Development High Risk Area, where the 
submission of a Coal Mining Risk Assessment (CMRA) is usually required to support an 
application. 
 
No CMRA has been submitted in this instance, and having liaised with The Coal Authority, it is 
considered necessary to attach conditions requiring the submission of a CMRA to ensure the 
safety and stability of the development. The conditions would secure intrusive site investigations 
as necessary to establish the risks posed to the development by past coal mining activity, as 
well as remediation works and/or mitigation measures to address land instability arising from 
coal mining legacy, in order to ensure that the site is made safe and stable for the development 
proposed.   
 
It is noted that the findings of the above may have an impact upon the site layout as proposed, 
and in any case a detailed proposed layout would need to be secured via condition.  

41



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

 
On the above basis, subject to the imposition of planning conditions, the application is 
considered to be acceptable when having regard to Local Plan Policy En6 and paragraphs 174 
and 183 of the NPPF.  
 
 
Other Matters 
 
Bin Collection 
The Council's Waste Services Team have been consulted on the application and have no 
objection to the proposal. They have confirmed that the waste and recycling generated by the 
development would need to be managed through the provision of a commercial waste service.  
 
The proposed access road is unlikely to be constructed to an adoptable standard as it is 
proposed to be a permeable gravel surface. Therefore, the preference (if the Council's Waste 
Team are contracted to collect waste from the site) would be to not enter the site due to the 
absence of an access road constructed to an adoptable standard.  As such, a bin collection 
point (BCP) adjacent to or as near to (as what is reasonably practicable) to the public adopted 
highway of Spring Lane would be required.  
 
It is considered necessary to attach a condition to secure the provision of adequate waste 
storage points across the site and a bin collection point as close to the adopted highway as 
possible.   
 
Planning Obligations 
Leicestershire County Council Planning Obligations Officer has confirmed that no contributions 
have been requested given that the site is a leisure use and would not trigger any financial 
contributions under the LCC Planning Obligations Policy (2019). 
 
Conclusion 
In accordance with the provisions of Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004, the starting point for the determination of the application is the development plan 
which, in this instance, includes the adopted North West Leicestershire Local Plan (2021).  
 
In summary, the principle of the development is considered to be acceptable and accords with 
Local Plan Policies S3 and Ec13. The proposed scale, design and layout of the proposal, 
together with the visual impacts, would be acceptable subject to the imposition of planning 
conditions to secure full details of the proposed design and layout of the units and therefore the 
scheme also accords with Local Plan Policies D1 and En3. The tree and ecology impacts are 
considered to be acceptable subject to the imposition of planning conditions to secure full 
details in relation to layout, tree protection, a woodland management plan, lighting scheme and 
biodiversity enhancement details and as such the proposal is considered to accord with Local 
Plan Policy En1. Subject to the imposition of conditions, the proposal is not considered to result 
in any unacceptable highway safety, residential amenity, flooding, drainage, coal or 
archaeological impacts and on this basis the application also accords with Local Plan Policies 
IF4, D2, Cc2, En6 and He1.  
 
It is therefore concluded that the proposed development would comply with the provisions of the 
development plan as a whole as well as the guidance set out within the NPPF. Overall, there 
are no material considerations which indicate the determination of this application other than in 
accordance with the development plan. 
 

42



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

Accordingly, the application is recommended for planning permission, subject to the imposition 
of planning conditions and subject to a S106 agreement, or Grampian condition to secure 
replacement tree planting. 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION- PERMIT, subject to Section 106 Obligation or Grampian condition 
(as considered appropriate by the District Council's Legal Services team) to secure 
replacement tree planting, and subject to the following conditions 
 
Full 
1 Time (3 years) 
2 Detailed Layout Plan 
3 Full details of Design, Materials and Surfacing and Foundation Design  
4 Levels 
5 Tree Protection and Removal Plans 
6 Landscaping Plans 
7 Woodland Management Plan  
8 Details of off-site Tree Planting 
9 Ecology Method Statements  
10 Badger Survey  
11 Retention of LWS 
12 Highway Conditions 
13 Details of Treatments to PRoWs 
14 Construction Method Statement  
15 Cycle Parking 
16 Archaeology Conditions  
17 Coal Investigations 
18 Drainage, Surface Water and Foul Waste Disposal  
19 External Lighting Scheme 
20 Signage and Infrastructure Design  
21 Bar, Restaurant, Office and Shop to be ancillary  
22 Units not occupied until Bar, Restaurant, Office and Shop are available for use 
23 Existing Uses on Site to Cease  
24 Restrict Occupancy 
25 Maximum Number of units 52 
26 No touring caravans  
27 Details of Waste Provision  
 
Outline 
1 Time period for submission of the reserved matters application 
2 Reserved Matters to follow 
3 Full details of Design, Materials and Surfacing and Foundation Design  
4 Levels to be submitted  
5 Tree Protection and Removal Plans 
6 Landscaping and Landscape Management Plans 
7 Woodland Management Plan  
8 Details of off-site Tree Planting 
9 Ecology Method Statements  
10 Badger Survey  
11 Retention of LWS 
12 Highway Conditions 

43



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

13 Details of Treatments to PRoWs 
14 Construction Method Statement  
15 Archaeology Conditions  
16 Coal Investigations 
17 Drainage, Surface Water and Foul Waste Disposal  
18 External Lighting Scheme 
19 Signage and Infrastructure Design  
20 Bar, Restaurant, Office and Shop to be ancillary  
21 Units not occupied until Bar, Restaurant, Office and Shop are available for use 
22 Existing Uses on Site to Cease  
23 Details of Waste Provision 
24 Parking 
25 Restrict use 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 

44



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

 
 

Continued use of caravan site for a mixture of permanent 
residential accommodation and short term holiday 
accommodation 

 Report Item No  
A2  

 
Ashby Woulds Residential Park Spring Cottage Road Overseal 
Derby   DE12 6ND 

Application Reference  
20/00362/FUL  

 
Grid Reference (E) 430387 
Grid Reference (N) 316182 
 
Applicant: 
Mr Tom Hartley 
 
Case Officer: 
Donnella Wood 
 
Recommendation: 
PERMIT  
 

Date Registered:  
13 March 2020 

Consultation Expiry: 
9 August 2021 
8 Week Date: 

8 May 2020 
Extension of Time: 

None Agreed 

 
Site Location - Plan for indicative purposes only   

 
     

Reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office 

©copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Licence LA 100019329) 
 

 

 

45

Agenda Item A2



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

Executive Summary of Proposals and Recommendation 
 
Call In 
 
The application is brought to Planning Committee, at the request of Councillor John Bridges 
who raised concerns regarding residential amenity. 
 
Proposal 
 
Full permission is sought for the continued use of a caravan site for a mixture of permanent 
residential accommodation and short term holiday accommodation at Ashby Woulds Residential 
Park, Spring Cottage Road, Overseal. 
  
Consultations 
 
A total of 3 letters of objection from 3 local addresses have been received.  Comments have 
been received by Ashby Woulds Town Council who object on behalf of the residents. All other 
statutory consultees who have responded have raised no objections with no recommendation of 
conditions.   
 
Planning Policy 
 
The site lies outside the Limits to Development on the Policy Map to the adopted Local Plan. 
The application has also been assessed against the relevant policies in the NPPF, the adopted 
Local Plan and other relevant guidance. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The principle of the development is acceptable.  The proposal is not considered to have any 
significant detrimental design, residential amenity or highway safety impacts and would not 
adversely impact the River Mease SAC.  There are no other relevant material planning 
considerations that indicate planning permission should not be granted.  The proposal is 
deemed to comply with the relevant policies in the adopted Local Plan, the advice in the NPPF 
and the Council's Good Design SPD.  It is therefore recommended that the application be 
permitted. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:-  
 
PERMIT, SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS  
 
Members are advised that the above is a summary of the proposals and key issues 
contained in the main report below which provides full details of all consultation 
responses, planning policies and the Officer's assessment, and Members are advised 
that this summary should be read in conjunction with the detailed report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

46



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

MAIN REPORT 
 
Planning permission is sought for the continued use of caravan site for a mixture of permanent 
residential accommodation and short term holiday accommodation at Ashby Woulds Residential 
Park, Spring Cottage Road, Overseal. 
 
The site currently has permission as a residential mobile home park and houses eleven lodges. 
Under the proposal eight of the lodges would become short term holiday accommodation. 
 
The site is also the subject of a separate undetermined application 19/01255/FUL for the 
retention of seven outbuildings used in association with the lodges. 
 
The site is located outside of the Limits to Development, as defined by the Policy Map to the 
adopted Local Plan and is therefore deemed countryside.  
 
Precise details of the proposal are available to view on the submitted plans. 
 
Concerns were initially raised to the NWLDC Environmental Protection Team and as such the 
proposal is a retrospective application. 
 
The application was considered at the Planning Committee of 3 September 2020, where it was 
resolved that the application be deferred to allow discussions to take place between all the 
parties to come up with an acceptable proposal to be considered. 
 
Relevant Planning History 
14/00875/FUL Demolition of Public House and change of use of land to a residential mobile 
home park PER 09.01.2015 
15/00716/VCU Removal of condition 9 attached to planning permission 14/00875/FUL to 
remove the requirement for coal site investigations PER 22.09.2015 
15/00927/FUL Change of use of land to a residential mobile home park (Re-submission of 
14/00875/FUL) to amend the site access PER 18.11.2015 
19/01255/FUL Retention of seven outbuildings PCO 
 
 
2.  Publicity 
 
10 Neighbours have been notified. 
 
 
3. Summary of Consultations and Representations Received 
 
Statutory Consultees 
 
Ashby Woulds Town Council - Objects to the application in support of the residents. 
 
Leicestershire County Highway Authority - No objection. 
 
NWLDC Environmental Protection - No objection but requested a note to applicant regarding 
the caravan site license.  
 
Third Party Representations 
Three letters of representations has been received, which object on the following grounds: 

47



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

-  Character of the area 
-  Noise and disturbance 
-  Anti-social behaviour 
-  Overlooking and loss of privacy 
-  Noise Management Plan not suitable and unworkable 
 
All responses from statutory consultees and third parties are available to view on the planning 
file. 
 
Only comments which raise material planning issues can be taken into account. 
 
 
4. Relevant Planning Policy 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government's planning policies 
for England and how these are expected to be applied. 
 
The policies of the North West Leicestershire Local Plan as listed in the relevant section below 
are consistent with the policies in the NPPF. The following paragraphs of the NPPF are 
considered relevant to the determination of this application: 
 
Paragraphs 7, 8, 9, 10, - Achieving sustainable development 
Paragraphs 11, 12 - The presumption in favour of sustainable development 
Paragraphs 38, 47 - Decision-making 
Paragraphs 55, 56 - Planning conditions and obligations 
Paragraph 84 - Supporting a prosperous rural economy 
Paragraphs 110, 111 - Promoting sustainable transport 
Paragraphs 129, 134 - Achieving well-designed places 
Paragraph 146 - The National Forest 
Paragraph 185 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 
Adopted North West Leicestershire Local Plan (2021) 
The following policies of the adopted Local Plan are consistent with the policies in the NPPF 
and should be afforded weight in the determination of this application:  
 
S1 - Future Housing and Economic Development Needs 
S2 - Settlement Hierarchy 
S3 - Countryside 
D1 - Design of new development  
D2 - Amenity  
Ec13 - Tourism Development 
IF4 - Transport Infrastructure and new development  
IF7 - Parking provision and new development  
En2 - River Mease Special Area of Conservation  
En3 - The National Forest 
Cc3 - Water - Sustainable Drainage Systems  
 
 
 
 
 

48



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

Other Policies and Guidance 
Planning Practice Guidance. 
Leicestershire Highways Design Guidance (Leicestershire County Council). 
Good Design for North West Leicestershire SPD - April 2017. 
The Habitats Regulations (The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017). 
Circular 06/05 (Biodiversity and Geological Conservation - Statutory Obligations and Their 
Impact Within The Planning System. 
River Mease Water Quality Management Plan - August 2011. 
National Forest Tourism Growth Plan (2017-2027). 
The North West Leicestershire: Local Growth Plan 2014-2018. 
 
 
5. Assessment 
 
Principle of Development 
The site is located outside of the Limits to Development as defined by the adopted Local Plan, 
however under the provision of Local Plan Policy S3 the principle of development for tourism is 
acceptable, subject to all other planning matters being addressed. 
 
The North West Leicestershire: Local Growth Plan 2014-2018 supports the development and 
enhancement of the local tourism offer in the district, and seeks to increase the number of 
visitors as well as the number of overnight stays, alongside increased private investment and 
employment opportunities in visitor related facilities. 
 
Local Plan Policy Ec13 seeks to maximise the potential of tourism in the district and increase 
tourist opportunities for visitors by supporting the development of new tourist attractions, 
including the provision of new accommodation to facilitate the opportunity for overnight stays. 
 
The Policy recognises that there may be instances where a tourist opportunity requires a 
countryside location or setting, with the preference for outside of the Limits to Development for 
tourism and tourism related development would be to re-use land and / or buildings. 
 
Ec13 further supports tourism in rural areas, which is appropriate to the local landscape and its 
surrounding environment and does not adversely affect local transport infrastructure which 
benefits business, communities and visitors, and respects the character of the countryside. 
 
In addition, Policy Ec13 supports the development of attractions and accommodation that are 
well connected to other tourist destinations and amenities, particularly by public transport, 
walking and cycling. It is considered the site is a popular location for walking however, due to 
the rural location it is considered a car would be used by the majority of visitors due to the poor 
levels of connectivity to the site. In terms of connectivity, there is a bus stop less than 30m from 
the development however, the bus service is infrequent and limited particularly on evenings and 
the weekend and as such, when having regard to the site's connectivity to amenities, it is 
considered that the site is not located within a sustainable location with access to a good level 
of sustainable transport options and a range of amenities. As such, some conflict has been 
identified with criterion d of Local Plan Policy Ec13. Notwithstanding the conflict, it is also 
considered it wouldn't be expected of a tourism related development to have access to services 
typically expected of a residential setting such as schools and doctors. Therefore, when having 
regard to the small scale of the development, and the fact that basic amenities can be accessed 
from neighbouring villages, and that the development re-uses existing buildings, it is not 
considered that a refusal of planning permission on the sustainability merits of the site alone 
would be justified in this instance.  

49



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

 
On balance, it is considered that the principle of the development is acceptable, subject to all 
other matters being adequately addressed. 
 
Scale and Design 
The proposal would result in the use of caravan site for a mixture of permanent residential 
accommodation and short term holiday accommodation. As a result of the proposal no external 
changes would be made to the existing lodges approved under permission 14/00875/FUL.  
 
As the development utilises existing buildings, with no changes proposed to the exterior, the 
proposal is not considered to result in any harm to the site itself or the character of the street 
scene. The proposal is considered to be compliant with Policy D1 of the Local Plan, the 
Council's Good Design SPD and the NPPF.  
 
Impact upon Residential Amenity 
During the course of the application, comments have been received from neighbouring 
properties located within the site, raising concerns in relation to noise and disturbance, 
overlooking and loss of privacy. Concerns were initially raised to the NWLDC Environmental 
Protection Team and as such the proposal is a retrospective application.  
 
Under the proposal eight of the eleven lodges would become short term holiday accommodation 
with three lodges remaining permanent residential use. Each lodge has its own curtilage, with a 
distance in excess of 6.5 metres existing between each lodge and this distance is considered 
sufficient in ensuring the amenity of occupants would be preserved and as such, in terms of 
overlooking and loss of privacy it is not considered the lodges would as a result of the 
application lead to overlooking and privacy related issues over and above those already existing 
within the site. 
 
In terms of noise and disturbance, and additional comings and goings, concern has been raised 
regarding the tourism related uses being in close proximity to the existing residential units 
however, it is considered the nature of the noise from the proposed use of the lodges would be 
domestic noise and this noise is not considered to be any different or more than would be 
anticipated in a residential area. In addition, the distance of 6.5m between each lodge is 
considered sufficient in reducing noise related issues. Further, any additional comings and 
goings to and from the site are not considered to result in any unacceptable amenity impacts to 
neighbouring residents over and above those expected in a residential area.  
 
In addition, in a recent appeal (21/10/2019) for a proposal of a similar nature an inspector 
concluded 'holiday units fall within the same C3 use class as conventional dwelling houses 
because the character of use is similar. I have seen nothing of substance to suggest holiday 
homes are more intensively used'. DCS reference: 200-008-863.  
 
However, following concerns raised by residents of the site experiencing the issues due to the 
application being retrospective, a Noise Management Plan was secured which would have both 
proactive and reactive methods to protect neighbouring residents. After consultation with the 
NWLDC Environmental Protection Team no objections were raised to the proposal and as such 
it is not considered a refusal on residential amenity grounds could be substantiated. 
 
Overall, the proposal is not considered to result in any unacceptable impacts upon surrounding 
residential amenity.  Therefore, the proposed development is considered to be in accordance 
with Policy D2 of the adopted Local Plan and the Council's Good Design SPD. 
 

50



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

Other Neighbour Amenity Matters 
Concern has been raised from the permanent residents living within the site over the use of the 
site being sold to them as an over 50's residential site. Under the original permission, 
14/00875/FUL the officer considered that though the application specified that the mobile homes 
would be intended for people at, or approaching, retirement it would be unreasonable to place 
such a restriction on the application given that the occupation of the mobile homes would be an 
acceptable form of accommodation for any social class, and as such they should not be 
prevented from residing in the units should there be a lack of demand from the target audience. 
It is considered this assessment was correct as the Council would not seek to restrict the 
occupants of residential homes. 
 
Highway Considerations 
The Local Highway Authority were consulted on the application and had no objection, 
confirming that, in its view, the impacts of the development on highway safety would not be 
unacceptable, and when considered cumulatively with other developments, the impacts on the 
road network would not be severe.  
 
It is therefore not considered that the proposal would cause an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety and the proposal is considered to be acceptable in relation to Policies IF4 and IF7 of the 
Local Plan, as well as the Leicestershire Highways Design Guide.  
 
Impact on the River Mease Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
The site lies within the catchment area of the River Mease Special Area of Conservation (SAC).  
Discharge from the sewage treatment works within the SAC catchment area is a major 
contributor to the phosphate levels in the river. Discharge into the river from non-mains drainage 
systems and from surface water disposal can also result in an adverse impact on the SAC, 
including in relation to impacts on water quality and flow levels.  
 
The proposal could result in an impact on the SAC, which may undermine the conservation 
objectives as it may result in the additional discharge of foul drainage to the treatment works / 
use of a non-mains drainage system and surface water drainage discharge.   
 
No additional bedrooms or sanitary provision are proposed to the site as part of this application 
and it is not considered the proposed usage of the site would result in an increase of foul 
drainage, over and above that of the existing arrangement. It is therefore not considered that the 
proposal would result in an increase in foul drainage discharge from the site. 
 
It is not considered that the scheme would lead to an increase in surface water run-off, over and 
above that of the existing arrangement. As such it is not considered reasonable to attach a 
soakaway condition in this instance. 
 
On this basis, it is considered that the integrity of the River Mease SAC would be preserved and 
the development would accord with Policy En2 (River Mease Special Area of Conservation) and 
Cc3 (Water - Sustainable Drainage Systems) of the adopted Local Plan. 
 
Therefore it can be ascertained that the proposal on the site will, either alone or in combination 
with other plans or projects, have no adverse effect on the integrity of the River Mease SAC, or 
any of the features of special scientific interest of the River Mease SSSI. 
 
 
 

51



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

Conclusion 
The principle of the development is acceptable.  The proposal is not considered to have any 
significant detrimental design, residential amenity or highway safety impacts and would not 
adversely impact the River Mease SAC.  There are no other relevant material planning 
considerations that indicate planning permission should not be granted.  The proposal is 
deemed to comply with the relevant policies in the adopted Local Plan, the advice in the NPPF 
and the Council's Good Design SPD.  It is therefore recommended that the application be 
permitted. 
 
RECOMMENDATION - PERMIT, subject to the following conditions 
 
1 Approved plans 
 
2 Use 
 
3 Removal of PD rights Part 1 (Classes A, B, C, D and E) 
 
4 Removal of PD rights relating to gates, walls, fences or other means of enclosure 
 
5 Noise Management Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 

52



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

 
 

Retention of seven outbuildings  Report Item No  
A3  

 
Ashby Woulds Residential Park Spring Cottage Road Overseal 
Derby   DE12 6ND 

Application Reference  
19/01255/FUL  

 
Grid Reference (E) 430387 
Grid Reference (N) 316182 
 
Applicant: 
Mr Tom Hartley 
 
Case Officer: 
Donnella Wood 
 
Recommendation: 
PERMIT  
 

Date Registered:  
5 July 2019 

Consultation Expiry: 
9 August 2021 
8 Week Date: 

30 August 2019 
Extension of Time: 

None Agreed 

 
Site Location - Plan for indicative purposes only   

 
     

Reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office 

©copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Licence LA 100019329) 
 

 

 

53

Agenda Item A3



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

Executive Summary of Proposals and Recommendation 
 
Call In 
 
The application is brought to Planning Committee, at the request of Councillor John Bridges 
who raised concerns regarding residential amenity. 
 
Proposal 
 
Full permission is sought for the retention of seven outbuildings at Ashby Woulds Residential 
Park, Spring Cottage Road, Overseal. 
  
Consultations 
 
A total of 3 letters of objection from 3 local addresses have been received.  Comments have 
been received by Ashby Woulds Town Council who requested advice on the use of the site. All 
other statutory consultees who have responded have raised no objections with no 
recommendation of conditions.   
 
Planning Policy 
 
The site lies outside the Limits to Development on the Policy Map to the adopted Local Plan. 
The application has also been assessed against the relevant policies in the NPPF, the adopted 
Local Plan and other relevant guidance. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The principle of the development is acceptable. The proposal is not considered to have any 
significant detrimental design, residential amenity or highway safety impacts and would not 
adversely impact the River Mease SAC. There are no other relevant material planning 
considerations that indicate planning permission should not be granted. The proposal is deemed 
to comply with the relevant policies in the adopted Local Plan, the advice in the NPPF and the 
Council's Good Design SPD. It is therefore recommended that the application be permitted. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:-  
 
PERMIT, SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS 
 
Members are advised that the above is a summary of the proposals and key issues 
contained in the main report below which provides full details of all consultation 
responses, planning policies and the Officer's assessment, and Members are advised 
that this summary should be read in conjunction with the detailed report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

54



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

MAIN REPORT 
 
Planning permission is sought for the retention of seven outbuildings at Ashby Woulds 
Residential Park, Spring Cottage Road, Overseal. 
 
The site currently houses 11 lodges. Under the proposal seven outbuildings would be retained 
for use in association with the lodges. 
 
The application was submitted following the enforcement case E/18/00132/COU.  
 
The site is also the subject of a separate undetermined application 20/00362/FUL for the 
continued use of the caravan site for a mixture of permanent residential accommodation and 
short term holiday accommodation. 
 
The site is located outside of the Limits to Development, as defined by the Policy Map to the 
adopted Local Plan and is therefore deemed countryside.  
 
Precise details of the proposal are available to view on the submitted plans. 
 
The application was considered at the Planning Committee of 3 September 2020, where it was 
resolved that the application be deferred to allow discussions to take place between all the 
parties to come up with an acceptable proposal to be considered. 
 
 
Relevant Planning History 
14/00875/FUL Demolition of Public House and change of use of land to a residential mobile 
home park PER 09.01.2015 
15/00716/VCU Removal of condition 9 attached to planning permission 14/00875/FUL to 
remove the requirement for coal site investigations PER 22.09.2015 
15/00927/FUL Change of use of land to a residential mobile home park (Re-submission of 
14/00875/FUL) to amend the site access PER 18.11.2015 
20/00362/FUL Continued use of caravan site for a mixture of permanent residential 
accommodation and short term holiday accommodation PDE 
 
 
2.  Publicity 
 
16 Neighbours have been notified. 
 
 
3. Summary of Consultations and Representations Received 
 
Statutory Consultees 
 
Ashby Woulds Town Council - Requested further advice on the usage of the site. They were 
advised the suitability of the applicant submitting an application for a change of use of the site 
was being investigated by the NWLDC Legal Team. The application for the change of use has 
since been received, 20/00362/FUL which the Town Council have been consulted on. 
 
Leicestershire County Highway Authority - No objection. 
 
NWLDC Environmental Protection - No objection. 

55



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

 
Third Party Representations 
Three letters of representations has been received, which object on the following grounds: 
-  Use of the garages 
-  Use of the site 
-  Parking issues in relation to the use of the site 
 
All responses from statutory consultees and third parties are available to view on the planning 
file. 
 
Only comments which raise material planning issues can be taken into account. 
 
 
4. Relevant Planning Policy 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 2021 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government's planning policies 
for England and how these are expected to be applied. 
 
The policies of the North West Leicestershire Local Plan as listed in the relevant section below 
are consistent with the policies in the NPPF. The following paragraphs of the NPPF are 
considered relevant to the determination of this application: 
 
Paragraphs 7, 8, 9, 10, - Achieving sustainable development 
Paragraphs 11, 12 - The presumption in favour of sustainable development 
Paragraphs 38, 47 - Decision-making 
Paragraphs 55, 56 - Planning conditions and obligations 
Paragraph 84 - Supporting a prosperous rural economy 
Paragraphs 110, 111 - Promoting sustainable transport 
Paragraphs 129, 134 - Achieving well-designed places 
Paragraph 146 - The National Forest 
Paragraph 185 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 
Adopted North West Leicestershire Local Plan (2021) 
The North West Leicestershire Local Plan forms the development plan and the following policies 
of the Local Plan are relevant to the determination of the application: 
 
S1 - Future Housing and Economic Development Needs 
S2 - Settlement Hierarchy 
S3 - Countryside 
D1- Design of New Development 
D2- Amenity 
Ec13 - Tourism Development 
IF4- Transport Infrastructure and New Development 
IF7- Parking Provision and New Development 
En2- River Mease Special Area of Conservation 
En3 - The National Forest 
Cc3- Sustainable Drainage Systems 
 
 
 
 

56



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

Other Guidance 
Planning Practice Guidance 
Leicestershire Highways Design Guidance (Leicestershire County Council) 
Good Design for North West Leicestershire SPD - April 2017 
The Habitats Regulations (The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017). 
Circular 06/05 (Biodiversity and Geological Conservation - Statutory Obligations and Their 
Impact Within The Planning System. 
River Mease Water Quality Management Plan - August 2011. 
National Forest Tourism Growth Plan (2017-2027). 
The North West Leicestershire: Local Growth Plan 2014-2018 
 
 
5. Assessment 
 
Principle of Development 
The site is located outside of the Limits to Development as defined by the adopted Local Plan, 
however under the provision of Local Plan Policy S3 the principle of extensions and alterations 
to existing dwellings is acceptable, subject to all other planning matters (and including criteria (i) 
to (vi) of the policy) being addressed. Whilst the proposal is in effect proposing the retention of 
detached curtilage buildings rather than an extension, it is accepted that similar principles 
should also be applied. In addition, it is considered the use of the outbuildings in association 
with the tourism use would also be acceptable under the provision of Policy Ec13 relating to 
tourism development. 
 
It has been advised that five of the outbuildings are used to house hot tubs and this usage may 
be temporary. It is considered this usage is incidental to the existing lodges and not something 
the Council would find necessary to control and as such, it is not considered reasonable to 
attach a time-related condition requiring the removal of the hot tubs in this instance. In addition, 
in an appeal relating to hot tubs an inspector concluded they do not constitute operational 
development. Appeal reference: APP/C1435/C/15/3131409.  
 
Scale and Design 
The application proposes the retention of seven outbuildings for use in association with the 
existing lodges within the site. The outbuildings are comprised of one large double outbuilding 
and six smaller outbuildings and are all constructed of timber. 
 
The outbuildings are considered to be of a similar size and design to outbuildings which would 
be expected on a site of this nature and as such the outbuildings are not considered to result in 
harm to the character and appearance of the streetscene or locality.  
 
Overall, the proposal is not considered to result in any negative visual impacts to the site itself, 
nor the surrounding streetscene. Given the above, the development is considered to be 
compliant with Policy D1 of the adopted Local Plan, the Council's Good Design SPD and the 
advice contained within the NPPF. 
 
Impact upon Residential Amenity 
During the course of the application, comments have been received from neighbouring 
properties located within the site, raising concerns in relation to the use of the site and the 
garages as well as parking issues in relation to the use of the site.  
 
The use of the site and potential issues surrounding this use is the subject of a separate 
undetermined application 20/00362/FUL for the continued use of the caravan site for a mixture 

57



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

of permanent residential accommodation and short term holiday accommodation and as such, it 
is not considered material to discuss the matter as part of this application which refers to the 
retention of seven outbuildings only. 
 
Complaints were raised to the Council's Environmental Protection team in relation to potential 
noise and disturbance arising from the use of the outbuildings, in particular the buildings 
containing hot tubs. The outbuildings are single storey brick buildings cladded with timber and 
due to their size and location within the site the outbuildings are not considered to cause undue 
impact to the neighbouring properties. In addition, after consultation with the Environmental 
Protection Team no objections to the outbuildings or their use were raised as such it is not 
considered a refusal on residential amenity grounds could be substantiated. 
  
Given the above, it is not considered that the proposal would result in any unacceptable amenity 
impacts to neighbouring dwellings when having regard to overshadowing, overbearing or 
overlooking impacts. In view of the above, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with 
Policy D2 of the adopted Local Plan and the Council's Good Design SPD.  
  
Highway Considerations 
The Local Highway Authority were consulted on the application and had no objection, 
confirming that, in its view, the impacts of the development on highway safety would not be 
unacceptable, and when considered cumulatively with other developments, the impacts on the 
road network would not be severe. They noted, should the outbuildings be used for the storage 
of vehicles, the six smaller outbuildings comply with Highways Standing Advice for single 
garages. They further advised, should the outbuildings be used for purposes unrelated to 
parking there is sufficient parking provision available within the site. 
 
Taking into account the existing parking to the site, the proposal is considered to be acceptable 
in relation to Policies IF4 and IF7 of the Local Plan, as well as the Leicestershire Highways 
Design Guide.  
 
Impact on the River Mease Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
The site lies within the catchment area of the River Mease Special Area of Conservation (SAC).  
Discharge from the sewage treatment works within the SAC catchment area is a major 
contributor to the phosphate levels in the river. Discharge into the river from non-mains drainage 
systems and from surface water disposal can also result in an adverse impact on the SAC, 
including in relation to impacts on water quality and flow levels.  
 
The proposal could result in an impact on the SAC, which may undermine the conservation 
objectives as it may result in the additional discharge of foul drainage to the treatment works / 
use of a non-mains drainage system and surface water drainage discharge.   
 
No additional bedrooms or sanitary provision is proposed to the site as part of this application. It 
is therefore not considered that the proposal would result in an increase in foul drainage 
discharge from the site.  
 
Although the footprint of the built development would be increased, the proposal would be 
located on existing areas of hard surfacing. It is therefore considered that the scheme would not 
lead to an increased run-off, over and above that of the existing arrangement and as such it is 
not considered reasonable to attach a soakaway condition in this instance.  
  
 

58



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

On this basis, it is considered that the integrity of the River Mease SAC would be preserved and 
the development would accord with Policy En2 (River Mease Special Area of Conservation) and 
Cc3 (Water - Sustainable Drainage Systems) of the adopted Local Plan. 
 
Therefore it can be ascertained that the proposal on the site will, either alone or in combination 
with other plans or projects, have no adverse effect on the integrity of the River Mease SAC, or 
any of the features of special scientific interest of the River Mease SSSI. 
 
Summary Reasons for Granting Planning Permission 
The principle of the development is acceptable.  The proposal is not considered to have any 
significant detrimental design, residential amenity or highway impacts and would not adversely 
impact the River Mease SAC. There are no other relevant material planning considerations that 
indicate planning permission should not be granted.  The proposal is deemed to comply with the 
relevant policies in the adopted Local Plan and the advice in the NPPF.  It is therefore 
recommended that the application be permitted. 
 
RECOMMENDATION, PERMIT subject to the following conditions 
 
1 Approved plans 
 
2 Materials 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 

59



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

 
 

Erection of leisure centre and associated development 
approved under planning permission ref. 19/01343/FULM 
without complying with Conditions nos. 2, 3, 5, 6, 8, 10, 12, 14, 
18, 19, 21, 22, 25, 27 and 28 so as to allow for an amended site 
access, amended elevations, amended site layout, removal of 
additional woodland and amended opening hours 

 Report Item No  
A4  

 

Land Adjacent  A511, Stephenson Way Coalville   LE67 3GB    Application Reference  
21/00099/VCIM  

 
Grid Reference (E) 442963 
Grid Reference (N) 315023 
 
Applicant: 
North West Leicestershire District Council 
 
Case Officer: 
James Knightley 
 
Recommendation: 
PERMIT subject to S106 Agreement 
 

Date Registered:  
21 January 2021 

Consultation Expiry: 
20 September 2021 

8 Week Date: 
22 April 2021 

Extension of Time: 
None Agreed 

 
Site Location - Plan for indicative purposes only   

 
     

Reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office 

©copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Licence LA 100019329) 

 
 

 

61

Agenda Item A4



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

Executive Summary of Proposals and Recommendation 
 
 
Proposal 
This is an application to "vary" conditions attached to an earlier planning permission for the 
erection of a leisure centre and associated works submitted on behalf of the District Council. 
 
 
Consultations 
Concerns in respect of issues in respect of light spill from the amended car parking area are 
raised by the County Ecologist. No objections are raised by any other statutory consultee, or by 
any neighbouring residents. 
 
 
Planning Policy 
The site is located within Limits to Development, as well as within an Area of Separation as 
defined in the adopted North West Leicestershire Local Plan. 
 
 
Conclusion 
The report below indicates that, whilst the amended scheme would result in a number of 
proposed changes to the originally approved scheme, the proposed development would 
continue to be considered to represent an appropriate form of development, and would still 
benefit from the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:-  
 
PERMIT, SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS 
 
Members are advised that the above is a summary of the proposals and key issues 
contained in the main report below which provides full details of all consultation 
responses, planning policies, the Officer's assessment, and Members are advised that 
this summary should be read in conjunction with the detailed report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

62



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

MAIN REPORT 
 
1. Proposals and Background 
 
In March 2020, planning permission was granted for the erection of a new leisure centre on a 
site which formed part of a municipal golf course to the northern side of the A511 Stephenson 
Way (19/01343/FULM).  
 
Amendments to the approved scheme are now proposed, and are submitted in the form of an 
application under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
In brief, the changes proposed are as follows: 
 
- Amended site access arrangement 
- Amended elevations 
- Amended site layout / masterplan (including amended pedestrian connection to Bridle 

Road) 
- Removal of additional woodland to facilitate excavations for flood compensation 
- Amended opening hours 
 
In order to accommodate the proposed changes, amendment of a number of conditions are 
sought. The conditions proposed to be amended are intended to achieve the changes listed 
above, as well as to ensure that approved plans referred to in conditions whose principal effects 
are not directly affected reflect the latest amendments and / or details already approved under 
discharge of condition submissions. 
 
 
2.  Publicity 
 
12 Neighbours have been notified. 
Site Notice displayed 5 February 2021. 
 
 
3. Summary of Consultations and Representations Received 
 
Leicestershire County Council Ecologist has no objections to the application, but raises 
issues in respect of light spill from the amended car parking area 
 
Leicestershire County Council Lead Local Flood Authority has no objections  
 
Leicestershire County Council Local Highway Authority has no objections 
 
Leicestershire County Council Rights of Way - no comments received   
 
National Forest Company comments as follows: 
- The National Forest Company has no objection from an overall delivery of trees and 

woodland perspective 
- The impact of the amendments to the car park in respect of tree retention are worthy of 

further consideration 
- Details of the proposed drainage infrastructure should be provided to determine future 

suitability of woodland planting in this area, and SuDS should be considered 
- A Woodland Management Plan, Construction Environmental Management Plan and 

63



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

Landscape Environmental Management Plan should be secured by condition 
 
North West Leicestershire District Council Environmental Protection has no objections  
 
Whitwick Parish Council has no objections 
 
 
Third Party representations 
None 
 
 
All responses from statutory consultees and third parties are available to view in full on the 
Council's website. 
 
 
4. Relevant Planning Policy 
 
National Policies 
National Planning Policy Framework 2021 
The following sections of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) are considered 
relevant to the determination of this application: 
 
Paragraphs 8, 11 and 12 (Achieving sustainable development) 
Paragraphs 47, 55, 56 and 57 (Decision-making) 
Paragraph 92 (Promoting healthy and safe communities) 
Paragraphs 104, 105, 108, 110, 111 and 112 (Promoting sustainable transport) 
Paragraphs 126, 130, 131, 132, 133, 134 and 135 (Achieving well-designed places) 
Paragraphs 167 and 169 (Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change) 
Paragraphs 174 and 180 (Conserving and enhancing the natural environment) 
 
Further advice is provided within the MHCLG's Planning Practice Guidance. 
 
 
Adopted North West Leicestershire Local Plan (2021) 
The application site is within Limits to Development as defined in the adopted North West 
Leicestershire Local Plan and also lies within an Area of Separation. The following Local Plan 
policies are relevant to this application: 
 
Policy D1 - Design of new development 
Policy D2 - Amenity 
Policy IF4 - Transport Infrastructure and new development  
Policy IF7 - Parking provision and new development  
Policy En1 - Nature Conservation 
Policy En3 - The National Forest 
Policy En5 - Areas of Separation 
Policy Cc2 - Flood Risk 
Policy Cc3 - Sustainable Drainage Systems 
 
 
 
 

64



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

Other Policies / Guidance 
Good Design for North West Leicestershire Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
 
Leicestershire Highway Design Guide (Leicestershire County Council) 
 
 
5. Assessment 
 
Having regard to the nature of the proposed changes, it is considered that the following matters 
represent the key issues relevant to the determination of this Section 73 application: 
 
 
Site Access / Access and Transportation Issues 
The existing approval authorises a left in / left out access direct onto the A511 Stephenson Way. 
The proposed amended plan would retain this overall arrangement, but proposes a slightly 
amended scheme, and seeks to regularise the access as (partly) installed (and which accords 
with details approved separately by Leicestershire County Council under the Section 278 
process). The County Highway Authority has no objections to this change. 
 
The revised scheme includes a revised configuration of on-site manoeuvring and car parking 
(including the replacement of one of the parallel "rows" of parking space with additional spaces 
on the western and southern edges of the parking area), but with no change to the overall 
quantum of parking provision; again, the County Highway Authority raises no objections in 
respect of this issue. 
 
In terms of pedestrian routes, it is noted that the proposed amended scheme would amend the 
currently approved pedestrian link between the leisure centre building and Bridle Lane to the 
north western corner of the site. The key change here would be the replacement of the 
approved path (which would address the changes in levels by way of being somewhat sinuous 
in nature) with a straighter link. Whilst this amendment would enable more direct pedestrian 
access to Thornborough Road (and the nearest bus stops), this would however result in the 
introduction of steps. In effect, this would mean that users wishing to access / egress the site 
from the north west and who were unable to use steps would have to go via the north east 
access and along Bridle Road (or, alternatively, via the main entrance (i.e. via Stephenson Way 
/ Thornborough Road)).  
 
In view of the implications of this change to the scheme, advice has been sought from the 
District Council's Community Safety Officer responsible for equalities issues. In response, 
concerns were initially raised in that the proposed change would remove what might be a key 
access point to the site for those with mobility difficulties from the Whitwick direction, and as the 
use of bark chipping steps can also cause accessibility issues for those with visual impairments 
as the differentiation between steps can be more difficult. The Community Safety Officer 
suggested that the District Council (as applicant) revisit the Equality and Human Rights Impact 
Assessment for the site in order that the impacts on equalities issues could be fully understood. 
 
This has now been undertaken, and a copy has been provided to the Local Planning Authority; 
this is intended to demonstrate that the proposed alterations to the scheme would be a 
proportionate response. The assessment identifies that the removal of the previously proposed 
ramped access (and which would only thereafter be a stepped route) is not a "designated" 
access point as of such for the leisure centre, and makes clear that the principal routes of 
access are fully accessible. It also indicates that the previously approved ramped route in the 
north western part of the site would have been unsuitable in other respects by virtue of it having 

65



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

an uneven surface, being unlit, and having to cross a service road. The Community Safety 
Officer takes the view that the justification for the proposed changes as set out in the 
assessment is appropriate. On this basis it is considered that the scheme would not 
unacceptably prejudice users with mobility issues. 
 
For its part, the County Highway Authority considers that the proposed amended pedestrian 
routes are appropriate. 
 
In terms of other matters related to transport, the County Highway Authority draws attention to 
proposed works to trees in the vicinity of the highway, and advises that any works to trees on 
the roadside verge will require agreement by the County Council's Forestry and Highways 
teams. 
 
 
Design and Visual Impact 
In terms of the proposed elevational changes to the leisure centre building, these would be 
limited in nature and would include an increase in the height of the roof-mounted louvre plant 
screen (by 1.1m approx.) and alterations to window and door openings (including a continuation 
of the glazing to the front of the pool section). 
 
The proposed alterations to the appearance of the building are not considered to be significant, 
and are not considered to affect materially the conclusions in respect of the quality of design 
reached at the time the original application was determined. Whilst the alterations to the roof 
would result in some elements of the structure being higher than previously approved, the 
overall maximum height of the building would not change, nor would any materially greater 
impact result on the surrounding landscape, or on the Area of Separation the subject of Local 
Plan Policy En5. 
 
 
Trees / Woodland 
The original application was accompanied by extensive details setting out the areas of existing 
landscaping proposed to be removed / retained, together with proposed new tree planting. 
When comparing the equivalent details now submitted, the principal area of additional tree loss 
is an area towards the south eastern A511 frontage (to the east of the vehicular access) which, 
it is understood, has arisen due to the need to provide excavations for flood compensation 
measures. 
 
However, other alterations to the scheme (and, in particular the changes to parking / 
manoeuvring space configuration set out above) are also proposed, and which would have the 
effect of retaining some areas of existing tree cover towards the west of the site currently 
identified as to be lost to the development.  
 
In response to the application, the District Council's tree consultant advises that he has no 
arboricultural objections to these amendments which, he considers, are relatively minor in the 
wider context of the scheme and would, overall, result in a slightly improved amount of tree 
cover when compared to the previously approved layout. He notes that the additional removals  
would be from two low quality (Category C) groups of mixed broadleaf trees, and also notes the 
slight reduction in removed woodland overall (reducing from 5875sqm to 5195sqm), (but which 
would, in any event, be adequately compensated for by the additional tree planting proposed 
(8075sqm)). The proposed changes are therefore considered acceptable in this regard. Whilst 
the comments of the National Forest Company in respect of the impacts of the car park 
amendments and drainage infrastructure on tree retention and suitability of proposed planting 

66



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

respectively are noted, the District Council's tree consultant is nevertheless content in respect of 
the amended proposals and their limited impacts vis-à-vis the approved scheme. 
 
 
Residential Amenity 
The currently approved opening hours are 06.30 to 22.30 daily, and the proposed amended 
scheme (supported by an updated noise assessment report) seeks approval for 06.30 to 23.00 
daily. The noise report indicates that, during the night time period, plant noise and noise break-
out from the site (including studio activity etc.) would not cause unacceptable disturbance to 
nearby residents. It is noted that no objections are raised by the District Council's Environmental 
Protection team, and the proposed extended hours are considered acceptable, meeting the 
requirements of Local Plan Policy D2. 
 
 
Ecology 
The application is accompanied by an Ecological Statement Update to assess whether the 
proposed alterations to the scheme would result in any changes in the potential ecological 
impacts identified within the original Ecological Statement and associated ecological reports. 
 
In terms of the principal changes vis-à-vis the approved scheme, the Ecological Statement 
Update indicates as follows: 
 
Whilst the proposed changes to the car park configuration would significantly reduce the 
vegetated buffer between the car park and Grace Dieu Brook, it is noted that the previously 
recommended 5m buffer could still be implemented and maintained during the works in order to 
protect the riparian habitats present at the brook. Whilst the closer proximity of the car park 
works to the brook may increase the potential for pollutant run-off into the watercourse, the 
amended proposals are not, the Ecological Statement Update indicates, likely to alter the 
predicted direct impacts upon Grace Dieu Brook significantly. 
 
The Ecological Statement Update notes that the proposed alteration to the route of the footpath 
in the north-western corner of the Site would result in a gently curving path rather than a 
meandering route which, Ecological Statement Update states, would reduce the area required 
for excavation and increase the area of woodland planting along its western edge. The revised 
route would, the Ecological Statement Update indicates, create a larger continuous area of 
woodland which would be of greater value to biodiversity given reduced disturbance of the 
woodland from use of the footpath. 
 
Whilst the Ecological Statement Update acknowledges that the scheme would result in the 
removal of woodland from the south-eastern portion of the site, it suggests that the ground flora 
mix proposed to be sown would provide a sufficiently diverse species composition to offset the 
loss of this area of woodland and would provide a residual low impact, given that semi-mature to 
mature trees would not be replaced with trees of equal maturity.  
 
In response to the application, the County Ecologist takes the view that the proposed changes 
to the scheme would be relatively minor, and raises no objections subject to the precautionary 
working recommended in respect of protection of the Grace Dieu Brook as set out in the 
submitted Ecological Statement Update being secured. Whilst the County Ecologist notes that 
the revised plans would bring the car park and construction impacts closer to the brook, but the 
protective stand-off is acknowledged to remain acceptable. 
 
 

67



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

The issue of external lighting in this area is also raised, and the County Ecologist draws 
attention to concerns previously identified at the time that Condition 8 (relating to external 
lighting) attached to the existing planning permission was discharged. Whilst officers have 
sought to address this concern, the agent draws attention to the fact that, whilst the car park 
configuration has been amended, the proposed lighting of this area of the site would be in 
accordance with details approved under the associated discharge of condition application 
(20/01604/DIS). On this basis, it is accepted that there would be no material harm over and 
above details as already permitted and, notwithstanding the County Ecologist's concerns in 
respect of the lighting issue, officers consider the scheme would be acceptable in respect of 
ecological issues. 
 
 
Other Issues 
 
Planning Obligations 
The existing planning permission is subject to a Section 106 obligation concerning a number of 
matters related to access and transportation (including in respect of bus passes and travel 
packs for employees, Travel Plan monitoring, and the Coalville Transportation Infrastructure 
Strategy). In order to ensure that the obligations previously secured continued to take effect, a 
further obligation (deed of variation or similar) is required. Accordingly, a deed of variation has 
been entered into during the course of the application's consideration (and hence the 
recommendation below does not need to be contingent on such an agreement being entered 
into). 
 
Drainage 
In order to avoid further discharge of condition submissions, further details have been submitted 
in respect of surface water drainage at this application stage. In respect of these details, the 
Lead Local Flood Authority advises that the details are acceptable for the purposes of the 
previously imposed conditions, and raises no objections. 
 
 
Conclusions 
As set out above, the amended scheme would result in a number of proposed changes to the 
originally approved scheme. For the reasons set out above (and as per the conclusions reached 
in respect of the original grant of planning permission), the proposed development would 
continue to be considered to represent an appropriate form of development, and would still 
benefit from the presumption in favour of sustainable development. Approval is therefore 
recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

68



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

RECOMMENDATION- PERMIT, subject to the following conditions 
 
1 Approved plans 
 
2 Hours of use 
 
3 Programme for first occupation of the proposed development in relation to the closure of 

Hermitage Leisure Centre 
 
4 Materials 
 
5 Hardsurfacing 
 
6 Landscaping (including landscape management plan) 
 
7 External lighting 
 
8 Drainage  
 
9 Construction Environmental Management Plan 
 
10 Outside storage 
 
11 Details of substation, gas meter, bin compound, external seating, trim trail stations, play 

equipment and high ropes 
 
12 Details of any other external plant and machinery (including all food / fume extraction 

plant) 
 
13 Clarification that no permission is granted for potential future development as indicated 

on the plans (including 3G pitches and five-a-side pitches) 
 
14 Boundary treatment 
 
15 Archaeology 
 
16 Ecology (including ecological management plan) 
 
17 Air quality mitigation 
 
18 Tree / hedgerow protection measures 
 
19 Ground conditions / contaminated land 
 
20 Compliance with identified BREEAM rating  
 
21 Site access to Stephenson Way 
 
22 Pedestrian accesses 
 
23 Parking and servicing areas (including cycle parking) 
 

69



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 5 October 2021  
Development Control Report 

24 Travel Plan  
 
25 Details of roof-mounted photovoltaic (PV) panels 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 

70



 

NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

PLANNING COMMITTEE – TUESDAY, 5 OCTOBER 2021 

 

 
Title of Report PROPOSED ALTERATIONS TO USE OF DELEGATED POWERS IN 

RESPECT OF RESERVED MATTERS APPLICATIONS AT SOUTH 
EAST COALVILLE 

Presented by Chris Elston 
Head of Planning and Infrastructure 

Background 
Papers 

Planning Committee on 2 December 2014 - 
Public Report Pack and Printed Minutes 

Public Report 
Yes 

Financial 
Implications 

No financial implications. 

Staffing and 
Corporate 
Implications 

No staffing or corporate implications. 

Signed off by the Director: Yes 

Legal Implications No legal implications, this proposal would bring these reserved matters 
application in line with the delegated arrangements as set out in the 
Council’s Constitution. 

Signed off by the Legal Advisor: Yes 

Purpose of Report To consider changes to the existing arrangements for determination of 
reserved matters applications in the South East Coalville consortium site. 

Recommendation TO REVOKE THE ORIGINALLY APPROVED RESOLUTION OF 
PLANNING COMMITTEE ON 2 DECEMBER 2014 ONLY IN RESPECT 
OF THE REFERRAL OF ALL RESERVED MATTERS APPLICATIONS 
TO THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
 

1.0 BACKGROUND 
 

1.1 The South East Coalville development comprises a number of sites, together forming an 
area identified in the adopted North West Leicestershire Local Plan as a site with planning 
permission for 3,500 dwellings (site H1h). The planning application for the largest of these 
sites was considered by the District Council’s Planning Committee on 2 December 2014 
which resolved to grant outline planning permission subject to Section 106 obligations for 
mixed use development (and including up to 2,700 dwellings (planning permission ref. 
13/00956/OUTM)). 

 

1.2 In addition to recommending approval of the application (the resolution in respect of which 
is not impacted by the current recommendation to the Planning Committee), the officer 
recommendation also proposed that any subsequent reserved matters applications 
submitted in respect of the outline planning permission be reserved for determination by 
the Planning Committee. The resolution of the Planning Committee was made in 
accordance with this recommendation. 

 
1.3 However, the implementation of this recommendation has resulted in a number of 

applications being referred to the Planning Committee for a decision where, under normal 
circumstances, they would be determined under delegated authority in accordance with the 
Council’s Constitution. 

71

Agenda Item 5.

https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=1363&Ver=4
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=1363&Ver=4


 
1.4 The current delegated authority arrangements set out within the Council’s Constitution allow 

for the ward member (or adjoining ward member if the adjoining ward is materially affected 
by the application proposals) to request that an application be referred to Planning 
Committee for determination at the discretion of the Chair where that request is supported 
by material planning grounds, and relates to a matter of local concern. 

 

2.0 CURRENT ISSUES WITH THE PROCESS 
 

2.1 Whilst officers originally took the view that recommending such an arrangement would 
provide comfort to members of the Committee over future development of this Sustainable 
Urban Extension, the process has resulted in applications being referred to Committee that 
would, under normal circumstances, be dealt with under delegated powers. Officers accept 
that the previous recommendation has had unintended consequences and, as a result, now 
consider that some applications are being unnecessarily referred to members for a decision. 

 
2.2 For example, a number of relatively straightforward applications have recently been 

submitted which have already (or will need to be) referred to Planning Committee for 
determination, and in respect of which there has been limited public interest from local 
residents. These include: 

 
- Reserved matters applications for pre-development infrastructure works (such as 

plateau formation for housing plots) (19/00747/REMM and 20/01638/REMM); 
- A revised reserved matters scheme seeking approval of amended details to an 

existing approved scheme (20/01436/REMM); and 
- A reserved matters application for the detailed layout of play areas and a 

landscaped buffer (20/02028/REMM). 
 

2.3 Officers are of the view that future reserved matters applications on the wider site which 
may seek to reduce the number of dwellings on a site, impact on a small number of plots 
or have minimal changes to house types without impacting on layout and access should 
not need to be considered by Planning Committee. 

 
2.4 It is also noted that similar arrangements do not apply in respect of other large-scale 

schemes elsewhere in the District (nor indeed in respect of other sites within the wider 
South East Coalville development). The current arrangements also only apply in respect 
of reserved matters applications made pursuant to outline planning permission ref. 
13/00956/OUTM and, where applications are submitted as full applications rather than as 
reserved matters, they are not subject to the automatic Planning Committee referral and 
are dealt with under the normal Constitution procedures. As such, there is an element of 
inconsistency with the current arrangements. 

 
2.5 The automatic referral of all such reserved matters applications also has implications on 

efficiency and performance, with not only the issues of increased officer and member time 
being spent dealing with applications at Planning Committee, but also the speed at which 
applications can be determined (and the ability for housing development to be delivered in 
a timely manner). 

 

2.6 This matter was discussed at the Planning Cross Party Working Group in March 2021 where 
it was agreed that members would take the proposal back to their groups and report back 
to the Planning Committee for a decision to revoke the approved recommendation that all 
reserved matters applications pursuant to outline planning permission 13/00956/OUTM be 
reported to Panning Committee. 

 

3.0 PROPOSED ALTERNATIVE PROCESS 
 

3.1 Officers accept that major reserved matters applications which are controversial should 
normally be considered at Planning Committee and the existing constitution allows for “call-
in” requests to be made by Ward Members. 

 
3.2 In effect, officers consider that all applications at South East Coalville pursuant to outline 

approval ref. 13/00956/OUTM should be dealt with no differently than other reserved 

72



matters applications around the District. This process would mean that the Ward Member 
would be notified in the usual manner and given an opportunity to make a call-in request 
within 28 days, which will then be subsequently discussed with the Chair as set out within 
the Council’s Constitution. 

 
3.3 This would also apply to existing, undetermined, reserved matters applications already 

submitted (other than those under consideration on this agenda, by the Planning Committee 
on 3 August 2021); the relevant Ward Member will be provided with an additional 
opportunity to request referral to Planning Committee, within an additional 28 day time 
period, which will then be subsequently discussed with the Chair as set out within the 
Council’s Constitution. 

 

 
Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: • Supporting Coalville to be a more 
vibrant, family-friendly town 
• Our communities are safe, healthy 
and connected 
• Local people live in high quality, 
affordable homes 
• Supporting businesses and helping 
people into local jobs 
• Developing a clean and green 
district 

Policy Considerations: None identified 

Safeguarding: None identified 

Equalities/Diversity: None identified 

Customer Impact: All customers including applicants for planning 
permission will be treated consistently across the 
district 

Economic and Social Impact: None identified 

Environment and Climate Change: None identified 

Consultation/Community Engagement: Discussed at the Planning Cross Party Working 
Group in March 2021 

Risks: No risks identified. Could reduce the risk of appeal 
against non-determination of reserved matters 
applications. 

Officer Contact Chris Elston 
Head of Planning and Infrastructure 
Chris.elston@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

 

73

mailto:Chris.elston@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3. Minutes
	4. Planning Applications and Other Matters
	A1 19/01961/FULM: Hybrid planning application for development of the site comprising: full application for the change of use of land for use as a caravan site as defined by S336 of the Town and Country Planning Act, together with associated works. Outline application for the erection of associated restaurant/bar/shop and office (access only)
	A2 20/00362/FUL: Continued use of caravan site for a mixture of permanent residential accommodation and short term holiday accommodation
	A3 19/01255/FUL: Retention of seven outbuildings
	A4 21/00099/VCIM: Erection of leisure centre and associated development approved under planning permission ref. 19/01343/FULM without complying with Conditions nos. 2, 3, 5, 6, 8, 10, 12, 14, 18, 19, 21, 22, 25, 27 and 28 so as to allow for an amended site access, amended elevations, amended site layout, removal of additional woodland and amended opening hours
	5. Proposed Alterations to Use of Delegated Powers In Respect of Reserved Matters Applications at South East Coalville

